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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
however arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Corporate Information (Continued)

NAElE R (E)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel (Chairman)
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (Chairman)
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

PRINCIPAL BANK
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

FHEES

AREXE (F/E)
RILE K4
R B 2 &

REEEE
BEGEE (TF)
RIS
ARELE
R 3 Bf 55 4

B

EE(FB) @t EBKMER A A

X G ETED
AR EE D

FEERRT
ERELBEERITERAA
AMREE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

3



4

Corporate Information (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
T [ By

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | am
delighted to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue
increases to approximately HK$76.3 million, representing
an increase of approximately 4.0%, as compared to
revenue of approximately HK$73.4 million for the vyear
ended 31 December 2021. The Group’s net loss decreases
to approximately HK$22.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately HK$27.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, representing an decrease of
approximately 15.9%. Such decrease is primarily due to the
one-off impairment loss of goodwill on the same period of the
preceding year which offset by the increase of the operating
expenses during the year.

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
selling of sewing threads and board categories of garment
accessories, provision of interior design, interior decoration
and furnishing services, and provision of trading of bloodstock,
stallion services and equine handling services. The principal
activities also included securities, advising on corporate
finance and assets management by acquisition of subsidiary.

The Group currently manufactures polyester sewing threads,
which are mainly used for garments. The major product of the
Group is 100% spun polyester sewing threads. Other types of
sewing threads are also offered, including textured polyester
series, elastic filament sewing threads and weft yarn. The
Group’s customers are located in the People’'s Republic of
China (the "PRC"), Hong Kong as well as overseas countries,
including but not limited to the Middle East and Mauritius.
While the Group’s customers in the PRC and Hong Kong
are mainly garment manufacturers, its overseas customers
are mainly wholesalers. The production facilities of the
Group, where the sewing threads manufacturing process is
conducted, are located in Liwan, Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou
Production Facilities”).

BRRR:

AANERXEZSQ(ESEDMARE
REAREMBAR (GBI AEEDEE"
T F+ A=+ -HLEFEZFER

REBHE

B2 _-_—_F#+_-_A=+—BIFE "
AEFH WK EHZE 476,300,000 7T
FIELHAEL0%  MEBE_E-_—F+=A
= +t—HLEFEM W A% A73,400,000
BT -HEE-__F#+-_A=+—81t
FE AEFENEBEBREFEREE-_Z-_—
FH+ZH=1T—HLFE#27200,000%
T N & & 4922,900,00058 7T - F I8 4 A
15.9% - ZM P ETERHEREFTRAHAEE
W—AMEREBEERNFELERIHNIE
AT 8 -

AEBIERERAGNZIERESHH
TERHE REZART ZERAERHR

EARBBMBEALRHABRFTEE BF
RELRFSCEERYE FTEXBTERESR

F REEREREHEALEBKEN

BRARETEERRE

AEEEBEETTANREN KGR -
Ziimﬁﬂﬁﬁuuﬁmo%%%%& &
EMREEGBEANEDE  BEKS
RHRY  mBHpBO8REBH - A&
ENEPMRFPEAREMB(HE]L -
EAREREH  BEETRAFRERE

EH - AEEURAFREBEENREE
EAERERER  MENEFAEZZ AU
B AEENEERBUREMNZ ER
((EMEEEH])  BAGHREREY
REZEERHEST o

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

5



6

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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For the business line of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services, the Group considers that there is a
growing popularity of interior design, fitting-out and decoration
in commercial, residential and public sectors in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area to seek individuality and style. Hence,
the Group expects this line of business can diversify its
existing business portfolio and to increase source of income.

Moreover, from a remarkably short period in the highly
competitive Australasian bloodstock market we have seen
the Group emerge with an enviable footprint. Shareholders
in one of the worlds most elite sires in Extreme Choice,
along with equity in 2 of the jurisdictions hottest young sires
Farnan and Pierata. Their stallion investment continued by
securing significant exposure on Deep Field’s recently retired
G1 winner, Portland Sky, and the Group has supported this
popular Widden based sire with some lovely mares from their
portfolio. Further investment in the Victorian based stallion
Grunt, owned and stood by Global Industry powerhouse Yu
Long has been endorsed by his promising start to his stud
career. Racing elite stallion prospects (and already both G1
winners) Jacquinot and Mo'unga, along with potential stallion
prospects such as Williamsburg (dual G1 placed) Hellish, and
the forgotten horse in the portfolio in Boyfriend, who is being
aimed at the $1M Arrowfield Sprint during the ATC Autumn
Championship. With the prize money on offer in Australia
there has never been a better time to participate and as ever
we have one eye on developing our next stallion prospect.

The Group has established significant ties with some of the
key stakeholders and leaders of the industry down under. Be it
Coolmore, Newgate, Widden, Newhaven, Aquis or Segenhoe
together with Inglis and Magic Millions, the strong business
partnerships forged have ensured our reputation as long term
and progressive Industry participants. As ever we will be
active at the upcoming breeding stock sales to bolster our
portfolio. The goal, as ever, is to identify commercially sound
investor opportunities.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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APPRECIATION

| wish to take this opportunity to extend my sincere thanks to
our shareholders, business partners, customers and suppliers
for their continuous support. | would also like to express
my deep gratitude to my fellow Directors and the Group's
management team and staff for their efforts and dedication to
the Group during the past year.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE B RSN

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of sewing threads and board categories of garment
accessories, the provision of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services and equine services business during the
year. The business review are set out in the above Chairman’s
Statement.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The revenue was generated from the segment of

manufacturing and trading of threads product, interior design
and decoration, and equine services. The following table sets

#E
AEBFANTERFTROAGNBSHRE
BHEERES RHEARG  KER

KRB RFERSE - EHLEEHN LX

1 3% 18
ey 78
ZREDRMBAREERES EAR

AREBEUREERESIEE - TRE
N AEBRRBE_SES-_—_FR_ET-_—%&

out a breakdown of the Group's revenue attributable to three +-A=+—HBItFEAXREE =@ 2Lk
segments of the Group of the year ended 31 December 2022 {5 Uz 25 BE 40 :
and 2021:
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1+—-HLEE Rate of
2022 2021 change
=2z —E-—F BE X
% of total % of total
HK$°000 revenue HK$'000 revenue %
FExT HAKZE% FTALT HBRE%
Manufacturing and BABEER
trading of threads g5 50,972 54,517 743 -6.5
Interior design and JETREE
decoration A 18,057 24.6 -2.5
Equine services BICRBE 7,702 791 1.1 873.7
76,274 73,365 100.0 4.0
Manufacturing and trading of threads BAGEERES

The revenue attributable to the manufacturing and trading of
threads decreased to approximately HK$51.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$54.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a
decrease of approximately 6.5%. The revenue decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in sales in PRC market due
to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Guangdong Province.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Interior design and decoration

The revenue attributable to the interior design and decoration
decreased to approximately HK$17.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 from approximately HK$18.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, representing a decrease of
approximately 2.5%. The revenue decrease was mainly due to
the outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong during the first half of
year 2022 and therefore the progress of the project has been
delayed during the year.

Equine Services

The revenue attributable to the equine services increased to
approximately HK$7.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, representing an increase of approximately
873.7%. The segment newly setup on year 2021, the Group
expanded to provide a wide range of equine related business
included but not limit to horse breeding services, stallion
services and horse retirement services. Therefore, the revenue
increase significantly during the year.

Cost of sales

The Group's cost of sales primarily consists of director material
costs, processing fees, direct labour costs and welfare and
social insurance. The following table sets out a breakdown of
the Group's cost of sales attributable to three segments of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Manufacturing and trading of BABREER
threads féf Z

Interior design and decoration AR REE

Equine services % E H& %

EARFTREE

ERARTEEEEARKEZRALZHZE
—E -+ _AZ+—BHLEFENY
17,600,000 & REEZE-_FT - —F+=
A=+ —H1FEHM418,100,000/8 7T &
L#I26% c WHERBRPETEHR
FEFEBBRFATHRREEE B
L FEREBEEBATER -

=

B R#%

ErREENRZENEBEE-_T ==
T A=+—HIEFERA7700,000E T
BREE_E_—F+_A=+—BILLEE
#) #1800,000/% JT & IN#9873.7% ° it 7 =B
RZZEZ—FHTIRYL AEEERER
HEZHSFCHEBEER BEETRRE
CTERERE BEEREXBFERERY -
Eit - FAlkaE K| m e

HERE

AEENHER LTI ZREEEMBKA

MTEREES TR RGN REE R
CTPREIAKERBE-T-__FR

TR —F+ A=t -HLEFEAEH
=187 BEFE 1 55 & A A B A ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—-HLEE

Rate of
2022 2021 change
—E-—f —E-—4 B &K
HK$°000 HK$'000 %
TER FHET
42,768 46,756 -8.5
11,418 10,564 8.1
8,707 1,253 594.9
62,893 58,573 74
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Manufacturing and trading of threads

The cost of sales attributable to the manufacturing and trading
of threads decrease to approximately HK$42.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$46.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an
decrease of 8.5%. The cost of sales for the manufacturing and
trading of threads increased is in line with the increase in sale
for the year.

Interior design and decoration

The cost of sales attributable to the interior design and
decoration increase to approximately HK$11.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$10.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 representing
a increase of 8.1%. The cost of sales for the interior design
and decoration increased is mainly due to the outbreak of
COVID-19 in Hong Kong during the first half of the year and
therefore additional cost of the project has been created.

Equine services

The cost of sales attributable to the equine services increase
to approximately HK$8.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately HK$1.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 representing an increase of
594.9%. The cost of sales for the equine services increased
significantly is mainly due to the significant agistment cost
generated from the bloodstock during the year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased to approximately
HK$13.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately HK$14.8 million for the year 31 December 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately 9.5%. The gross
profit margin decrease to approximately 17.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from approximately 20.2% for the
year ended 31 December 2021 was mainly because of the
gross loss recorded by the segment of the equine services
which diluted the gross profit margin of the Group.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Other income and gain/(losses and expenses), net

The Group recorded other gain and other expenses, net of
approximately HK$2.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 as compared with other net losses and expenses of
approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, representing a decrease of approximately 23.3%.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of staff costs
and transportation expenses for the segment of manufacturing
and trading of threads. Selling expenses decreased to
approximately HK$5.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from approximately HK$7.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, representing a decrease of approximately
26.4%. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the
staff cost and transportation expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative losses primarily consist of staff costs,
Directors’ remuneration and legal and professional fees.
Administrative expenses increased to approximately
HK$29.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
from approximately HK$23.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, representing an increase of approximately
26.1%. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in staff costs for the segment of equine services and
recognition of share option expenses during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs increased to approximately
HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately HK$0.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, representing an increase of approximately 295.9%. Such
increase was mainly due to the new borrowings to support the
development of the segment of equine services.

Loss before income tax

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss
before income tax of approximately HK$22.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$27.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a
decrease of approximately 15.9%.

Income tax expense

No income tax expense was recorded both for the year ended
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Total comprehensive expenses attributable to the
owners of the parent

The total comprehensive expenses attributable to the owners
of the parent increased to approximately HK$27.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately
HK$25.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing an increase of approximately 7.3%. Such increase
was mainly due to the combined effect of the decrease in the
Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 due to
the reasons mentioned above and the decrease in exchange
differences on translation of foreign operations.
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Basic and diluted loss per share

The Company’'s basic and diluted loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK5.60
cents (2021: HK7.43 cents), representing a decrease of
approximately 24.6%, which was mainly due to the decrease
in loss attributable to the owners of the parent.

Final dividend

The board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
operations were primarily financed through its operating and
financing activities. The Directors believe that in the long
term, the Group's operations will continue to be funded by
a combination of cash generated from the Group's operating
activities and financing activities.

The Group’'s cash and bank balances amounted to
approximately HK$2.2 million and approximately HK$27.3
million as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
functional currency of the Group is the Hong Kong dollar. As
at 31 December 2022, 35.5% of the Group’s cash and bank
balances were denominated in the Group’s functional currency
(31 December 2021: 94.9%) and the remaining 64.5%
(31 December 2021: 5.1%) in other currencies, mainly the
Renminbi and Australian Dollars.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had net current
assets of approximately HK$29.3 million and approximately
HK$58.4 million, respectively, which included trade
receivables, contract assets, deposit and other receivables,
inventories, biological assets, tax recoverable and cash and
cash equivalents. The Group’s current ratio decreased from
approximately 3.1 as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
1.4 as at 31 December 2022.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group's gearing ratio is calculated based on net debt
(including borrowings, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents)
divided by the total equity plus net debt at the respective
reporting date. The gearing ratio is approximately 48.8%
and approximately 1.2% as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
respectively. The decrease of the gearing ratio was mainly
attributable to the loss incurred and the new borrowing
generated during the year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (as at 31 December 2021: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
change in the capital structure of the Group and the share
capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Shares”).

As at 31 December 2022, the Company's issued share capital
amounted to approximately HK$20.5 million, divided by
409,141,860 Shares of HK$0.05 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There were neither significant investment held as at 31
December 2022 nor material acquisitions during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

There is no plan for material investment or capital assets as at
31 December 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2021: Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of the
financial conditions of its clients and credit review of the
Group’s loan portfolio. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk when it enters
into transactions which are not denominated in the Group's
functional currency. Such exposure mainly relates to the
distribution and sale of the Group’s products and purchases
of raw materials in the PRC and the acquisition of broodmares
and stallions and the equine services income in Australia.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. Yet, the Group’s management monitors
foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
The sensitivity analysis of the Group’'s exposure to foreign
exchange risk and other financial risks are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group's
assets were pledged to lenders to secure certain borrowings
granted to the Group. For details thereof please refer in Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

SN FERL B
AEBRIILAUNAEBNEE R E
MXZHAZINERR -EHRARRBRTIEHR

RABESEEREEAERNERLBER
MEAERBEBNKEEESEREESEAR
FICREKRAER - NEBE AT &INE
%’Tiﬁiﬂﬂ(%(’ﬁiﬁﬁ‘ﬁ%%i@@%@%
RONERR YR BEFERBEZEHFE
KON &L B o Lkﬁlyl\l:ﬂ 2 & H b & mh
ERAOEREINMERAFTFEREREY
IR FMIFESS o

EEERA

i st o g s st L F g S WL herlt Sy
Ft+-A=Z=T—H AEEWNEECEEH
TERA MERAEEERNE THEK -
ERFRE2HRAMBHERMKRME2S -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of
141 employees (as at 31 December 2021: 161), of whom
120 were located in the PRC and 21 were located in Hong
Kong. The Group’s staff costs mainly comprised wages
and salaries, social insurance, housing provident fund and
severance payments. For the two years ended 31 December
2022, the Group’s total staff costs (excluding Directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$18.6 million and
HK$19.3 million, respectively. The Group offers remuneration
packages comprising basic salaries, discretionary bonuses
and allowances to its management and office staff. For the
workers at the Guangzhou Production Facilities, the Group
offers them salaries above the minimum wage, promotion
opportunities and budgets for social events.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme"”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.
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There was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme
and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the
Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The remuneration committee of the Company is responsible
for reviewing and determining the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management members with
reference to the salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and the desirability of
performance-based remuneration. Any discretionary bonus
and other merit payments are linked to the profit performance
of the Group and the individual performance of the Directors
and senior management members. The existing share option
scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 8 February 2023 and the
previous share option scheme of the Company adopted on
24 November 2017 (the “Old Share Option Scheme"”) was
terminated on the same date. Under the Old Share Option
Scheme and the Share Option Scheme the Company may
grant options to, among others, any employees (full-time or
part-time) or Directors with a view to rewarding them for
their contributions to the Group, giving incentive to them for
optimising their performance and efficiency and attracting
as well as retaining those whose future contributions are
important to the long-term growth and profitability of the
Group. Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and
up to the date of this annual report, no share options have
been granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. Details
of share granted under the Old Share Option Scheme are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statement of this
annual report.

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Shareholder’s loan agreement between Mr. Wong
and Tseyu International

On 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, a controlling
shareholder of the Company and an executive Director (“Mr.
Wong”), and Tseyu International Trading Company Limited
("Tseyu International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a shareholder’'s loan agreement in
respect of the shareholder’s loans provided by Mr. Wong to
Tseyu International. The shareholder’'s loans, amounting to
HK$19,171,000, are interest-free, unsecured and repayable in
cash on demand. As the shareholder’'s loans were provided
on normal commercial terms or better and were not secured
by the assets of the Group, the shareholder’'s loans are fully
exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details
of the shareholder’s loan agreement are set out in the circular
dated 16 February 2021.
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Loan agreement between Mr. Wong and Guangzhou
Xinhua

On 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong and Guangzhou Xinhua Thread
Company (EMN#ELEAFR2AET) ("Guangzhou Xinhua"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a loan agreement in relation to the intra-group current
accounts balance in a sum of RMB16,760,277 (equivalent to
HK$18,603,907) due from Mr. Wong to Guangzhou Xinhua. It
was agreed that, among other things, interest shall be payable
by Mr. Wong to Guangzhou Xinhua to be accrued at a rate of
2% per annum on the outstanding current accounts balance
from the date of the loan agreement and the current accounts
balance shall be repaid by Mr. Wong within three years from
the date of the loan agreement. Such loan agreement has
been approved by the independent shareholders based on
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the loan
agreement are set out in the circular dated 16 February 2021
and announcements of the Company dated 8 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions
during the year under the definition of connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it
has complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Save for the matter in relation to the above paragraph of
“Major and Connected Transactions” and the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, the Group has in all material respects
complied with all relevant laws, rules and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group and its operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In order to better integrate the concept of social responsibility
into the Group’s strategy and decision-making and to further
guide the Group to develop a socially responsible practice,
the Group has established an environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") report preparation team. While preparing
the report, the Group strives to incorporate the notion of
sustainable development into its daily operations.

Meanwhile, the Group has established a systematic
stakeholder communication channel with the aim to facilitate
positive interactions with the Group's stakeholders, actively
respond to relevant litigation issues and promote quality,
effective and sustainable growth. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group has maintained its business
integrity and dedication to environmental protection, while
continuously striving to improve quality management and
employee care.

For further information in relation to the Group's ESG
practices, please refer to the Group's separate ESG report,
which is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Employees are considered to be one of the most important
factors that contribute to the productivity of the Group.
Employees of the Group are mainly provided with on-the-job
training as well as remuneration packages and allowances.

The Group also communicates closely with its customers to
obtain valuable feedback and provides them with information
about the Group's products and trends in the sewing threads
market. The Group has maintained business relationships
with its five largest customers for a period ranging from
approximately five to twenty years, respectively. Likewise,
the Group has also established stable relationships with its
suppliers. As such, the Directors believe that the Group has
developed a trustworthy and reliable reputation as well as a
strong partnership with its customers and suppliers.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Use of proceeds of the Company’s Initial Public
Offering

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the net proceeds from
the Share Offer were approximately HK$40.7 million, after
deducting commission and expenses borne by the Company in
connection with the Share Offer (the "Net Proceeds”). On 5
July 2022, the Company announced the further change in use
of proceeds from the Share Offer. For details thereof please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 5 July
2022 headed “Change in Use of Proceeds”. The unutilised
net proceeds which amounts to approximately HK$8.7 million
for the acquisition of machineries, the Board has resolved
to change the allocation of the amount of the unutilised
net proceeds, such that approximately HK$6.09 million and
HK$2.61 million of the unutilised net proceeds will be applied
towards the working capital and other general corporate
purposes of the Group respectively instead.

As at 31 December 2022, the Net Proceeds had been applied
and utilised as follows:
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Use of net proceeds of the subscription and placing
of the new shares on July 2021

On 29 June 2021, the Company entered into the subscription
agreements with two subscribers, pursuant to which the
subscribers has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
3,300,000 and 3,400,000 new Shares for two subscribers at
the subscription price of HK$0.60 per subscription share. Also,
the placing agent and the Company entered into the placing
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best effort
basis, up to 47,000,000 placing shares at the placing price
of HK$0.60 per placing share to not less than six placees
who and whose beneficial owners shall be Independent
of the Company. The subscriptions and placing of the new
shares has been completed on 22 July 2021. Details of the
subscription and placing of the new shares are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 29 June 2021, 8 July
2021 and 22 July 2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the net proceeds of the subscription
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FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

For the existing principal business of manufacturing and
selling of sewing threads, the Group has experienced
some difficulties owing to the outbreak of the coronavirus
("COVID-19") pandemic and uncertainties due to the ongoing
trade conflict between the People's Republic of China (the
“PRC") and the United States of America ("U.S.") as well as
the gradual slowdown of the PRC economy. In coming year,
although the tension of COVID-19 seemed to be abating, we
expect that the trade conflict between the PRC and the US
and the COVID-19 will still continue impacting our business.
The Group will continue to pay close attention to the trade
conflict and COVID-19 and to evaluate its impact on the
financial position, cashflows and operating result of this
business line.

For the business line of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services, the Group consider that there is a
growing popularity of interior design, fitting-out and decoration
in commercial, residential and public sectors in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area to seek individuality and style. Hence,
the Group expected the new line of business can diversify its
existing business portfolio and to increase source of income.

RARFTEIREE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

Moreover, from a remarkably short period in the highly
competitive Australasian bloodstock market we have seen
the Group emerge with an enviable footprint. Shareholders
in one of the worlds most elite sires in Extreme Choice,
along with equity in 2 of the jurisdictions hottest young sires
Farnan and Pierata. Their stallion investment continued by
securing significant exposure on Deep Field's recently retired
G1 winner, Portland Sky, and the Group has supported this
popular Widden based sire with some lovely mares from their
portfolio. Further investment in the Victorian based stallion
Grunt, owned and stood by Global Industry powerhouse Yu
Long has been endorsed by his promising start to his stud
career. Racing elite stallion prospects (and already both G1
winners) Jacquinot and Mo'unga, along with potential stallion
prospects such as Williamsburg (dual G1 placed) Hellish, and
the forgotten horse in the portfolio in Boyfriend, who is being
aimed at the $1M Arrowfield Sprint during the ATC Autumn
Championship. With the prize money on offer in Australia
there has never been a better time to participate and as ever
we have one eye on developing our next stallion prospect.

The Group has established significant ties with some of the
key stakeholders and leaders of the industry down under. Be it
Coolmore, Newgate, Widden, Newhaven, Aquis or Segenhoe
together with Inglis and Magic Millions, the strong business
partnerships forged have ensured our reputation as long term
and progressive Industry participants. As ever we will be
active at the upcoming breeding stock sales to bolster our
portfolio. The goal, as ever, is to identify commercially sound
investor opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

With prize money, industry participation and market trends
at an all time high in the Australian bloodstock industry we
are purposely positioned to benefit from this lucrative market
boom.

The Directors would continue to review the existing
businesses of the Group from time to time with a view to
improving the business operation and financial position of
the Group. The Board considers that it is beneficial for the
Group to seek suitable investment opportunities with a view
to increasing the value of the Group and maximising returns to
the Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEENEREFIS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (£ Bl {£), aged 63, was appointed
as a Director and the chairman of the Board on 18 August
2016 and re-designated as an executive Director on 23 June
2017. He is also the chief executive officer, the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, one of the Group's
controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible
for the management and overall strategic planning and
development of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and assurances.

Mr. Wong obtained his higher diploma in accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1982. Mr. Wong was
admitted as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and as an associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in November
1992 and February 2008, respectively. From April 2019 to
May 2020, Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive director
of JBB Builders International Limited (stock code: 1903), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From May 2019 to January 2020, Mr. Wong served as an
independent non-executive director of Yi Hua Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2213), a company delisted on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 21 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBBENREFE(E)

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch (FR ¥ ), aged 56, was appointed
as the company secretary, compliance officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 18 August 2016, 23 June 2017
and 19 February 2020, respectively. Mr. Chan resigned as the
company secretary on 31 August 2022. Mr. Chan obtained his
bachelor’s degree of art in accountancy from City University of
Hong Kong (formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong)
in November 1992 and was admitted as a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February
1997 and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in April 2001, respectively. From June 2006 to
December 2011, Mr. Chan served as an executive director
of the tax department of Ernst & Young, an international
accounting firm, where he was primarily responsible for
providing tax and business advisory services to both
international and domestic companies operating in the PRC.
Further, Mr. Chan served as a partner in the tax department
of the Guangzhou Branch of Grant Thornton, an international
accounting firm, from October 2012 to October 2015 where
he was primarily responsible for developing the tax practice in
Guangzhou. Mr. Chan has also been serving as an independent
director of Natural Health Trends Corp. (stock code: NHTC), an
international direct-selling and e-commerce company listed on
the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, since December 2015, and is
responsible for supervising and providing independent advice
to the board of the company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBEBNREFE(E)

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex (R %14), aged 45, obtained his
bachelor's degree in commerce specialising in economics
and finance from the University of Melbourne in Australia in
1999. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in financial
services sector, mainly in compliance and asset management.
From July 2014 to December 2020, Mr. Leung served as an
executive director of DT Capital Limited, whose shares are
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 356).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Leung did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

Mr. Ma Pok Man Josiah (B 3C), aged 43, has over 15
years of experience in the horse racing and breeding industry
in Hong Kong and Australia. Mr. Ma set foot in the horse
racing industry as a horse owner in Hong Kong in 2005.
Since 2009, he has also been involved in the horse breeding
industry and is a shareholder of various stallions in Australia
and manages various syndicates which own broodmares,
yearlings and racehorses in Australia. Mr. Ma is also the Hon
Secretary (Racing) of the Hong Kong Racehorse Owners
Association. Apart from his experience in the horse racing and
breeding industry, Mr. Ma has over 20 years of experience as
an engineer in the construction industry. Mr. Ma is currently a
director and shareholder of JM & Associates Limited (X #E &
51 B BR 72 7)), a company principally engaged in the provision of
architectural and engineering consultancy services in respect
of property development in Hong Kong, which he acted as
the Authorised Person, Registered Structural Engineer and
design engineer for various construction projects. Mr. Ma
obtained his bachelor’'s degree in civil engineering from the
University of New South Wales, Australia in May 2002 and a
master’'s degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in September 2011. He was admitted
as a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
("HKIE") in 2007, a Registered Professional Engineer in 2008,
a Registered Structural Engineer in 2009 and an Authorised
Person (List of Engineers) in 2010. Mr. Ma is also a director
of Wai Ji Christian Service and a Professional Assessment
Assessor to the HKIE.

Mr. Ma did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the three
preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEkEREEEBNEREFE

Mr. Shane McGrath, aged 45, has over 20 years of
experience in the horse racing and breeding industry in
Australia. Mr. McGrath has been the chief executive officer
of Aquis Farm since May 2017 and will resign from such
position with effect from 31 December 2021.
bloodstock sales manager at Coolmore Australia from
November 2009 to May 2017 and a general manager at Eliza
Park Stud from March 2000 to March 2009. At Eliza Park
Stud, in addition to the development of a successful pre-
training and racing division, Mr. McGrath oversaw the stallion
operation from a three-stallion roster to 12 during his tenure.
Under his leadership, Eliza Park Stud became one of the most
recognized stud farms in Victoria, Australia with participation
from local and international partners Mr. McGrath introduced.
At Coolmore Australia, Mr. McGrath promoted successfully
the syndication concept with an aim to achieve risk sharing
and capital participation in its stallion portfolio and assisted in
raising fresh capital for expansion. Two of the most famous
stallion syndicates promoted by Mr. McGrath were retired
champion racehorses “Pierro” and “So You Think"”. During his
tenure at Aquis Farm, Mr. McGrath was the chief executive
officer and oversaw a team of approximately 150 staff. He
led the team and established stud bases in different states
across eastern Australia, most notably a Hunter Valley base in
the state of New South Wales, in partnership with Emirates
Park in which the stallion careers of Invader and Spieth were
launched. In addition, at the Canungra headquarters in the
state of Queensland, inaugural stallion “Spill The Beans”
served a record number of mares in his first season and
also subsequently became the champion first season sire in
Queensland. Mr. McGrath was also instrumental in selecting
high calibre racehorses for Aquis Farm including Farnan,
Anders, Prague, Sunlight, Fundamentalist, Houtzen, Away
Game, Osamu and Holyfield. Under Mr. McGrath's leadership,
Invader, The Mission, Divine Prophet, Spieth have commenced
their stallion careers.

He was a

Mr. McGrath did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the three
preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBEBNREFE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming (R 2 8), aged 65, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director on 24 November
2017. Mr. Sung is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of each of the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Group. Mr. Sung has over
30 years of experience in accounting and assurances. Mr.
Sung graduated from La Trobe University in Australia in March
1984 with a bachelor’'s degree in economics. Mr. Sung was
admitted as a fellow of the Taxation Institute of Australia and
a member and fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in November 1987, December 1987
and February 1995, respectively. He was also admitted as
an associate of CPA Australia and Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand in March 1986 and April 1989,
respectively. Mr. Sung has been the sole proprietor of Alfred
Sung & Co. since 1999 and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing audit and taxation works. Currently, Mr. Sung
serves as an executive director and chief financial officer of
Modern Living Investments Holdings Limited (stock code:
8426), a company listed on GEM.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Sung did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBBENREFE(E)

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold (FR # Bf), aged 63, obtained his
bachelor’'s degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1986, a postgraduate diploma in
banking and finance from the City University of Hong Kong
(formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong) in 1990
and a master's degree in finance from City University of Hong
Kong in 1995. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute, UK Chartered Management Institute,
Certified Practising Accountants, Australia and a Chartered
Financial Analyst charterholder. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in project finance and fund-raising activities for
construction projects in Hong Kong and Asia Pacific. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of JBB
Builders International Limited (stock code: 1903) and Upbest
Group Limited (stock code: 335), whose shares are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel (/@ & 18), aged 40, obtained
his bachelor of science degree in mathematics, economics
and finance from The University of Hong Kong in 2004. Mr.
Chow is a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Chow has over 15
years of experience in managing investment funds. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Chow served at Dah Sing Bank from
October 2004 to July 2005 as a risk control assistant and he
served at JK Capital Management Limited from July 2005 to
December 2017 with his last position as an assistant portfolio
manager. From May 2018 to May 2019, Mr. Chow served as
an assistant portfolio manager at Step Capital Management
(HK) Limited. From May 2019 to August 2020, Mr. Chow
served as a portfolio manager at Reliance International
Financial Planners Limited. From September 2020 to June
2022, Mr. Chow served as a portfolio manager at Perpetuum
Wealth Management Limited, he served as a responsible
officer to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr.
Chow has served as a portfolio manager at Browen Capital
(HK) Limited since June 2022, he served as a responsible
officer to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBEBNREFE(E)

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chow did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Tat Chi (R¥ZE), aged 49, is the director of LMP
International Limited., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (“LMP"). Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for
the management of business operations of LMP. Mr. Leung
joined the Group in February 2021. Mr. Leung graduated from
the Caledonian University with a higher national diploma
in interior design. Mr. Leung has over 24 years experience
in interior design and project management. Mr. Leung
was a member of Hong Kong General Chamber of Young
Entrepreneurs and also the Vice President of Hong Kong
Bio-Environment Energy Association (HKBEE) between 2017
to 2018. Mr. Leung had also been appointed Junior Police Call
Honorary President for Tseung Kwan O District by the Hong
Kong Police Force.

Ms. Liu Jinghui (8/# £), aged 49, is the financial controller
of Guangzhou Xinhua Thread Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Guangzhou Xinhua").
Ms. Liu is primarily responsible for the financial control of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Ms. Liu joined the Group in August 1994.
Ms. Liu received her associate degree in polymer chemical
engineering from the South China University of Technology
(B E T KE) in the PRC in July 1994. She also obtained
qualifications as a registered tax adviser from the Department
of Personnel of the Guangdong Province (B&R & AEEE) in
October 2004.

Mr. Lui Hak Kong ( & = fll ), aged 58, is the production
manager of Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Lui is primarily responsible
for the production management as well as quality control of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Lui joined the Group in June 1996.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lui worked for Dik Sun Dyeing
Factory Ltd. as a person-in-charge for its laboratory and
quality control from June 1990 to April 1996. From June 1983
to March 1990, Mr. Lui worked as a merchandiser and site
leader of Fang Brothers Knitting Limited, which was a knitting
company.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

BREXBEEIN AELEEEKRERA
THHA=ZFRELEREZFREBELEI
FAZESFMS LM ZEMEMETRAR
REFETEAEMESTRS -

SREERE

REERE 495 AARAEEZEN
BRI HS#BEBRERAG(HHNES -
RELETECEEETTHRNERKLEE - R
EER_TE_—F_AMAKER - 4%
EEERRINZRLAE  EEERNKE
FTEAHNBRESANE RPAERZERNRE
NRBEEEBETEEB@UFLR - REE
BLAEEESFRAERATEETE TR
T—tFE_T-N\FHBAEEBEDR
EReEREHEHAER - RAENES
BEEEITABERRSFENEED
E °

BIHMBLL 495 AAARBEEEZEMN
BRAAEMFESEBRAR ([EMHE])
MBS E - B+ T EAEEMTFEN
BREEE s Bl R —AAAEFENAMA
AEE - AL+ R—NAALUF+ BEEF
BEMETIAESH) FILEIRREERF -
BHAR_ZENE+AEEREASTER
FAMBEMER -

BREILE 585 BMMELELR -
BEER-—AARFERANMARER -
TERERMHENLEEEEREER
BEoMAREEN  8EEE-ANESF
NAE-ANAREFOAEEERLEI(R
B)ERAFERENEEEERETE - B
—NWN=ZFRNAZE-ILITF=A 2%
ERECELHBERAR (—RIHAR)
HEBNMEE



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Wong Pak Yip (Z B %), aged 56, is the sales manager of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the
sales and marketing of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group
in July 1990. Mr. Wong completed a post-secondary five
course at Sha Tin Technical Institute (now known as Hong
Kong Institute of Vocational Education (Sha Tin)), majoring in
retail supervision, in July 1997. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Wong worked for Unimix Limited, a garment manufacturing
and trading company, as a sales assistant from August 1988 to
May 1990. From August 1986 to July 1988, Mr. Wong worked
for Sun Hop Kee Garment Factory, a garment production
company, as a merchandiser.

None of the members of the senior management of the Group
has been a director of any listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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EBRELEERESRGDHEEE - Bt
FE—NANRFNAZ-—NANANFLAE
f£Sun Hop Kee Garment Factory (— X R
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that cultivating and maintaining a culture
focused on good corporate governance is essential to
effect strong business growth and continue the efficient
management of the Company. The Directors are of the view
that strong corporate governance practices can safeguard the
interests of and ensure accountability to the Shareholders as a
whole.

The corporate governance code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules has been adopted
by the Board. Nevertheless, the Directors are committed
to regularly reviewing its corporate governance practices to
ensure conformity with the standard set out in the CG Code,
as well as meeting the rising expectation of the Shareholders
and other stakeholders of the Company.

Except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code, details of which are set out in the section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this corporate
governance report, the Board is of the view that the Company
has complied with the code provisions for the year ended 31
December 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the standard of dealings regarding
securities transactions by the Directors equivalent to the
required standard of dealings as set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors have all confirmed,
having been made specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings and the
required standard concerning securities transactions by the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEg
Composition of the Board EEgrAERK
The Board currently comprises: EEeEReRE:

Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
(Chairman and chief executive officer)
BEHEBEE(EEFTHAEZ)
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch

BR B 3R 5t A4

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah

BEX KL

Mr. Shane McGrath (appointed as a Director on 3 January 2022)
Shane McGrath % 4 (RZFE-Z—F—HA=HAEZT)
Independent non-executive Directors

BIYKHTES

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

NIREF % A

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

PR BF 5L A

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel

AEEBXE

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the ZEEEBEHBHNLAFEREIEENS
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior #HREEBHNEEFBI—F °
Management"” of this annual report.

Except as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical KIEZEkEfAEEENEEFIS] AT
Details of Directors and Senior Management”, there has been HEEI BB B EB S - 27 - 8
no financial, business, family or other material relationship B E b & Kk 1% o

among the Directors.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided
a written confirmation of his independence and the Company
regards them as independent pursuant to rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board will hold regular board meetings at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such meetings are
expected to involve active participation, either in person or
through electronic means of communication, of a majority of
the Directors entitled to be present.

Below is the attendance record of each Director at the Board
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2022:

%%%'ﬁ$QTEE%MLmﬁW%
5O ER BB -

EFefEeFAFAE IR EHESS
EF NBFTE-—XR -FEHARLEEZAX
MOEZFRBERRIRNEBETAEATA
2EEMAEH -

NTRERXREENREE_T__F+_A
ST ALEFERTHNEFEEZNAR
Ao 8%

Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EENA BITEREARH
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert HEERE 6/6
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch PR 2 3R 5T A& 6/6
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex REWELE 6/6
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah SEXEE 6/6
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath 7t £ 5/6
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming NI LA 6/6
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR i B % 4 5/6
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BEEXSE 6/6

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tERER®MSE(E)

Below is the attendance record of each Director at the general
meeting of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022:

UWTAESREEREE_S-_—_F+=A4
=t BHLEFERTHNARGREBAFKR
TR E RS

Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EEHA BITERERY
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert FERREEE 2/2
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch PR B 3R ST A 2/2
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex REWEE 2/2
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah SEXELE 2/2
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath 7/t 4 2/2
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming RIEEA e 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR # BF 5T £ 2/2
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAEREZLSE 2/2

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is primarily responsible for the overall management
and strategic planning and development of the Group, which
may involve convening general meetings and reporting the
Board's work at a shareholders’ meeting, determining business
and investment plans, preparing annual financial budgets and
final reports and formulating proposals for profit distributions.
Day-to-day management is alternatively delegated to the
executive Directors and senior management. The functions
delegated to senior management are regularly reviewed by the
Board to ensure that they are appropriately aligned with the
Group's needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had
three independent non-executive Directors and was at all
times in compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules, which specifies that the independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one third of the Board
members with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

EEENEE

EEeTERAAKENBREE MR
RERER ARSI BRKRRREERN
BREZLHREEFETIFE BEXHR
BRENE  RUFEVHBRERZKBRSE
EmEaMokREH - AFERAST
ZERTHTEERGREEE -ZRTS
RERBNBERESS EHEMN - UE
REZHWNTERNEEFTRK -
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance policies to
cover the Directors’ risk exposure/liabilities with respect to
any legal actions against the Directors arising from corporate
activities of the Company. Such insurance coverage was
reviewed by the Board and shall continue to be reviewed
annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no committee for
corporate governance was established and the Board is thus
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
outlined in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Directors may hold Board meetings when necessary and
include any relevant matters for discussion in the agenda as
they see fit. A minimum of 14 days’ notice of such Board
meetings is given to all Directors. A draft agenda for each
Board meeting typically accompanies the notice to give the
Directors an opportunity to raise any other relevant issues for
discussion in the meeting. Board papers and related materials
to the meeting are circulated to each Director before each
meeting for their perusal to ensure that they can make an
informed decision to discharge their duty as a Director.

Draft minutes are also circulated to the Directors for their
comment and review after each Board meeting is held, and
the minutes of the Board and the Company’s committees are
kept by the company secretary of the Company. Each Board
member and Director has access to the advice and service
of the company secretary of the Company in order to comply
with relevant procedures and applicable rules and regulations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in management
structures and internal control procedures in order to achieve
effective accountability.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules, except for the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Wong, who is the chairman of the Board as well as the
chief executive officer of the Company, has been involved
in the daily operations and management of the Group since
2008. The Directors consider that vesting the roles of the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company in Mr. Wong will ensure strong and consistent
leadership, facilitate the Group’s business strategies and boost
the effectiveness of the Company’s operation. The Board will
continue to review this arrangement and consider splitting
the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company when such role splitting is beneficial
to the Group as a whole.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”)
state that at each annual general meeting (the "AGM"), one
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
Director retiring by rotation shall be eligible for re-election.

While each of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company to act as a non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for a fixed
term of three years, the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors appointed are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election according to
the Articles. Independent non-executive Directors are required
to notify the Company as soon as practicable if there is any
change that may affect their independence and each of them
must provide a written confirmation of his independence every
year.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
relevant and informed, the Directors are to participate in
continuous professional development through which their
knowledge and skills can be refreshed and strengthened. As
part of the Directors’ continuous professional development
programme, newly appointed Directors are to receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction upon their
appointment as a Director while existing Directors receive
additional training when appropriate to ensure that they
are aware of and are able to comply with the obligations
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and any other statutory
requirements. The company secretary of the Company is
responsible for maintaining and updating records for the
Directors’ training sessions.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all the Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, Mr. Chan Yiu Tung,
Enoch, Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex, Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah,
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming, Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr.
Chow Chin Hang, Joel, comprising the Board during the year
ended 31 December 2022, participated in a training session
and each Director was provided with relevant guidance
materials with respect to the laws applicable to Directors, the
roles and responsibilities of Directors and the Directors’ duty
to disclose their interest.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) on 24 November 2017 in
order to oversee particular functions of the Company. These
committees of the Board have been established with written
terms of reference that clearly outline their authorities, powers
and duties. These terms of reference can be found on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established pursuant to rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for reviewing financial information, monitoring the Company’s
financial reporting system and internal control procedures and
maintaining the relationship with the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming
(the chairman), Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr. Chow Chin
Hang, Joel. No member of the current Audit Committee is a
member of the previous independent auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report as well
as the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The current terms of reference state that the Audit Committee
shall have at least four meetings annually. The Audit
Committee held a meeting on 28 March 2023 to (i) review
and approve the annual financial results in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2022; (ii) discuss and consider issues
significant to financial reporting, controls on operations and
compliance, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems; and (iii) review the appointment of
the auditor and its relevant scope of work.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit
Committee held five meetings, where the Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed, amongst other matters, (i) the
Group's consolidated results for the year ended 31 December
2021; (ii) the Group’s consolidated results for the three months
ended 31 March 2022; (iii) the Group's consolidated results
for the six months ended 30 June 2022; (iv) the Group's
consolidated results for the nine months ended 30 September
2022; (v) the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures of the Group; and (vi) appointment of auditor of the
Group.
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Below is the attendance record of each member of the Audit A FTABE-_ET-_—_F+-A=+—Hit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2022: FEEZZEGSKELE RN
Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HEXRE
Name of Directors EENA BITERERH
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming (chairman) RIEBBEE(EE) 5/5
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR # BF 5T £ 5/5
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAERELSE 5/5
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEE®
The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three ¥ MEZEECRABRE="EBIIFRNTES
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chow Chin BIEREBHLA(EF)  RIERLE MERE
Hang, Joel (the chairman), Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming and Mr. B %t & o

Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible
for making regular recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management of the Company and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policy.

The current terms of reference state that the remuneration
Committee shall have at least one meeting annually. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings, where they reviewed
the remuneration packages for all Directors and senior
management of the Company and made recommendations to
the Board.
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Below is the attendance record of each member of the WUTNABEZE-_E-_—_F+-A=+—HIt

Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December FEFHFMEZEeSKBEEESZ ML
2022:

Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HERE
Name of Directors EENA BITERERY
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel (chairman) BRIE & E(EE) 2/2
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming RIZRF %&£ 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold BeR 3£ B o A 2/2

Details regarding emoluments of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are outlined in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the number of

E_E-—Ft-A=t—
B R A RS

EREERHE
BILEFENMEHB
BMBMRMEEI2

BE_Z-_—_F+=-A=+—HLFE"

senior management members whose remuneration fell within  Bl& N T T HBE NS R EIEE K B A
the following band is as follows: AR
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band e E A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000/ 7T 4
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZES

The Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (the chairman)
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Sung Alfred Lee Ming, Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr.
Chow Chin Hang, Joel.
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The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for
regularly reviewing the structure of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed change
to the structure of the Board. Following the establishment of
the Nomination Committee, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy in order to achieve diversity on the Board.
As such, Board members are selected based on a range of
diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The current terms of reference state that the Nomination
Committee shall have at least one meeting annually.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held three meetings, where they assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of all the
retiring Directors at the annual general meeting.
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Below is the attendance record of each member of the WUTAHEZE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—HI

Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December FERZZE€ZKEHFSEN L
2022:

Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HEXRE
Name of Directors EENA BITEERERE
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (chairman) — & B{& % & (£ &) 1/1
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming N IR RBA SR A 1/1
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold BeR 3 B o A4 11
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BARELE 1/1

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tERER®MSE(E)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board recognises the importance of diversity in the
Board composition and has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance
the quality of performance of the Company. In designhing
the Board’'s composition, selection of candidates has been
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical and professional skills and/or
qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director. The Company will also take into account
factors relating to its own business model and specific needs
from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered and reviewed
the composition and diversity of the Board. All the executive
Directors and non-executive Director possess extensive
and diversified experience in management and industrial
experience. The three independent non-executive Directors
possess professional knowledge in management, finance,
accounting and legal aspects. The Nomination Committee will
review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Board understands a single gender board will not
consider diversity to be achieved. The Board has looked
forward the potential candidates and will appoint a director
of a different gender no later than 31 December 2024. For
the detailed gender ratio in the workforce, please refer to the
environmental, social and governance report.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will
be reviewed annually by the Board, encouraging all directors
including independent non-executive directors to express their
views in an open manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings. While all independent non-executive directors are
also members of the board committees to enable various
and independent view in company’s matter. In addition, all
Directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from
the management on the matters to be discussed at board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’'s expense. The Board considered the said
mechanisms has been operating effectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors understand and recognise their responsibility to
(i) prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group;
and (ii) ensure that such financial statements are prepared to
give a true and accurate view of the state of affairs, results
and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance as well
as any internal standards deemed appropriate and necessary
by the Directors in order to prepare the Group's consolidated
financial statements. Further, the Directors also strive to offer
a fair and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial
position and prospects and ensure timely publication of the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors confirm that
as at 31 December 2022, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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The responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company
is to form its independent opinion based on its audit on those
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board, and
to report its opinion to the Shareholders. Further details of
their reporting responsibility are set out in the independent
auditor’s report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. As such, the Directors are committed to
reviewing such systems regularly. The Board, the Company’s
internal audit division and the Audit Committee conducted a
review of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems during the year ended 31 December 2022 and were
satisfied with their adequacy and effectiveness. Similarly, the
Board also examined the Group's internal control systems in
terms of financial, operational, compliance, procedural and risk
management functions and were generally satisfied with the
effectiveness of the current systems in place.
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The Directors understand that the enforcement of risk
management and internal control systems is essential to the
Group's ability to manage and minimise risks that may affect
the Group’s efficiency and effectiveness, or inhibit it from
achieving the business objectives.

In relation to the undertakings provided by the controlling
Shareholders in respect of the deed of non-competition,
the details of which are outlined in the Prospectus, the
independent non-executive Directors confirm that they
have reviewed the enforcement of such undertakings and
conclude that there are no outstanding issues regarding the
undertakings that need to be raised with the Shareholders and
the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid or
payable to the Company’s independent external auditor, Asian
Alliance, for the audit services for the Group are approximately
as follows:
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o

HK$'000

Type of service PR 7 38 Bl FHET
Audit services EZR% 1,128

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and also
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with
shareholders and management.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Chan
Yiu Tung, Enoch, has resigned as a Company Secretary on 31
August 2022 and Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui") has been
appointed as the Company Secretary on 31 August 2022. Mr.
Hui had complied with the professional training requirements
to update his skills and knowledge under Rule 5.15 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In order to protect their own rights and interests, Shareholders
may propose separate resolutions in regard to substantial
issues at Shareholders’ meetings for consideration and voting.
According to the GEM Listing Rules, all resolutions presented
at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll, and after
the relevant Shareholders’ meeting, the results of such a
poll will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company. Pursuant to the Articles, an AGM will be
held annually in the relevant territory where the Shares are
listed, or elsewhere as may be determined by the Board.
Any meeting other than an AGM is deemed an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM").

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETINGS

Extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of the deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at the general meetings. Such requisition must be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition.

Shareholders must send their written resolutions, together
with their full name, contact details and identification, by post
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong or by email for the attention of the company secretary of
the Company, details of which are set out below:

. 10/F., Aubin House
171-172 Gloucester Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Principal place of
business of the
Company in Hong
Kong

Email address . info@harbourequine.com
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An extraordinary general meeting must be within two months
after the deposit of the requisition. If, within 21 days after
the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

RIGHT OF RAISING ENQUIRIES

For queries about shareholdings, share transfers, registrations
and dividend payments, Shareholders should contact the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, whose details
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” of
this annual report.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'’
MEETINGS

The Articles provide that Shareholders who wish to put
a resolution to a vote may convene an EGM by means of
requisition using the procedure set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company utilises various channels to communicate with
its shareholders and investors, including (i) the AGM or EGM,
which allows Shareholders to comment and exchange views
with the Board; (ii) the publication of interim, quarterly and
annual reports; (iii) notices, announcements and circulars; and
(iv) the Company's website at www.harbourequine.com.
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Report of the Directors
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The Directors are pleased to present this report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 18 August 2016.
On 22 June 2017, the Group completed a group reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”), details of which are set out in the
section headed "History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus. Through various reorganisation
procedures, the Company became the holding company of the
Group upon completion of the Reorganisation.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
primary activities of its principal subsidiaries are the sale
and manufacture and selling of sewing threads and board
categories of garment accessories, provision of interior
design, interior decoration and furnishing services, trading of
bloodstock, stallion services and equine handling services.
The principal activities also included securities, advising on
corporate finance and assets management by acquisition of
subsidiary. Details of the Group’s principal activities are set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this
annual report. The Board does not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group's performance for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the main issues impacting its
results and financial position are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
In addition, a discussion of the likely future development of the
Group's business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's profitability, financial position, results of
operations, business operations and prospects may be
affected by a variety of risks including foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's risk
management system and policies are shown in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further, the Group may also be exposed to other risks that may
be beyond its control. In particular, the Group may experience
material price fluctuations of fibre and yarn, both being raw
materials principally used in the manufacturing process of
sewing threads. The Group also faces business risks, including
(i) failure to secure a supply as the Group does not enter
into long-term supply contracts with its suppliers; (ii) any
unexpected disruption in the Guangzhou Production Facilities;
and (iii) any labour shortage, increase in labour costs or other
factors affecting labour supply in the PRC, each of which
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s operations,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the five years ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the
section headed “Five Year Financial Summary” of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements of the issued share capital of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights pursuant to
the Articles or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would require the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’'s reserves available
for distribution to Shareholders, calculated according to
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$47.0 million (2021: HK$67.3 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, sales to the Group's
largest customer and five largest customers represented
approximately 22.4% (2021: approximately 21.0%) and 43.0%
(2021: approximately 41.8%) of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively. The Group's suppliers include suppliers of
raw materials and processing works. For the year ended
31 December 2022, supplies attributable to the Group's
largest supplier and five largest suppliers represented
approximately 11.9% (2021: approximately 15.1%) and 45.3%
(2021: approximately 40.0%) of the Group's total supplies,
respectively.
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To the Directors’ best knowledge, none of the Directors or
any of close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or any Shareholder who or which own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital had any beneficial interest in
any of the five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers
of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
(Chairman and chief executive officer)

HREBEE(FEFTHAEE)

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch

BoR 1B 3R %% A4

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex

REWESE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah

BIEXEE
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ZRGEMLEMRA K HEHL% A EARAQF
EETRANBRERATERELELAEE
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RBE_SE-_—_F+_A=+—HLEFE
NEEAFEREBH  EEWTAHR:

Mr. Shane McGrath (appointed as a Director on 3 January 2022)
Shane McGrath %t 4 (R=ZFZZF—H=HEZF)

Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHITES

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

RIBHEE

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

BR E B 5t &£

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel
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Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Directors shall
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director but the number of Directors so appointed
shall not exceed the maximum number determined from time
to time by the Shareholders in a general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, notwithstanding
any other provisions in the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third, shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

For the biographical details of the Directors, please refer to
the section headed "“Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years, which shall be renewed as determined by the Board or
the Shareholders. Either party is entitled to give not less than
one month’s notice to terminate the service agreement.
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Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company to which he has agreed to act
as a non-executive Director or an independent non-executive
Director for a fixed term of three years, which shall be
renewed as determined by the Board or the Shareholders.
Except for the Director’s fees, no independent non-executive
Director is to receive any other emolument for acting as an
independent non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed
or entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation other than the statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCY OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided
the Company with a confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles, a Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may incur or sustain in or about
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

Appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage
has been arranged for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors receive compensation in the form of an annual
director’'s fee while members of the senior management
receive compensation in the form of salaries, discretionary
bonuses and other allowances. The Group also reimburses
the Directors and senior management for expenses which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred in relation to the Group's
operations or in the course of discharging their duties to the
Group. The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration packages of the Directors and
the senior management, taking into account factors including,
salaries payable by comparable companies, employment
conditions, responsibilities and the individual performance of
the Directors and senior management.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions
of each of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), which
were (a) required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares REGREBERGZFE
(a) Ordinary shares of the Company (a) ARE]EER

Percentage of issued

Nature of interest/ Number of share capital of the

Name of Director Holding capacity ordinary shares held Company (Note 1)

YN

ERITREN

BB REME BRSO B4 % B R 2 A A A (4 1)

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Interest of a controlled corporation 120,000,000 (L) 29.33%
(Notes 2)
BERELE XEGEERE S 120,000,0000% A& 13 (L)
(Bratz)

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex Beneficial owner 10,100,000 (L) 2.47%
REWEE EaBEEA 10,100,000 4% % £ (L)

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah Beneficial owner 8,800,000 (L) 2.15%
BEXEE ERnEEA 8,800,000 1% A% 17 (L)

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEgHE(E

(b) Share options of the Company

Name of category of

participant

SRERNZE

Directors

Bz

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah
BEXLEE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah
SEXEE

Mr. Shane McGrath
Shane McGrath %

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex
RERSE

Other eligible participants

EhoERSRE
Nil
£

Date of grant
of share

option

BRERHAS

13 May 2021
g I
BAT=H

31 August 2022
b e %3

NA=+-R

3 January 2022
=8 S
<H=A

31 August 2022
—E-CF
NAZt+-H

Exercisable period

figd

13 May 2021-12 May 2024
“E-_-FRA+ZAE
“Z-RERATCA

31 August 2022-30 August 2025
ZE-ENA=T-RE
ZE-RFN\AZTA

3 January 2022-2 January 2025
ZBCZE-fZR%E
ZZ-R%-AcA

31 August 2022-30 August 2025
“2--f)\R=+-R%
“Z-RfNBZ1A

Exercise price

x4

(b) ARAIERE

Number of underlying shares in respect of which share option were granted

EREBRENRBROEE
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed at 31
at 1 January during the during the during the December
2022 year year year 2022
ZECCE R-B-ZE
-5-8 tzAzt-8

AERR REARY REAEAR  REAXY REfE

057 3,500,000 S S = 3,500,000
0.59 = 4,000,000 = = 4,000,000
0.492 S 4,091,418 S = 4,091,418
0.59 S 4,000,000 S = 4,000,000
3,500,000 12,091,418 S = 15,591,418
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Notes:

1. As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital was HK$20,457,093 divided into 409,141,860 Shares of
HK$0.05 each.

2. Three Gates Investment Limited ("Three Gates Investment”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 15 August 2016
is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (“Mr.
Wong"”), who is the chairman and an executive director of the Company.
Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 120,000,000 Shares
held by Three Gates Investment by virtue of the SFO.

3. During the period, no share options mentioned above were cancelled.

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange according to
rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

To the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December
2022, the following persons or corporations (other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who had
interests and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares

Name of Substantial

Nature of interest/

Number of ordinary

FERRRAQTRAD K AR 5 Y
BERAXE

BESEHMN RZTEZZF+ZA=+—
B ATALTHZEB(ARARREEREE
TTEBA BBRAN AR R B 5 =k 48 78 B 1»
TFTHERBEESFRBEEMNEXVIBE2R
3N WAERETFTARANBLAEER B
E&PIFE336IEREAFTENE MM
@mKRBI

REGREBRGZHFE

Percentage of issued
share capital of the

Shareholder Holding capacity shares held Company (Note 1)

N

ERITRAN

TERRER BEtE BREH6 FEEEREE Botk(#iF)

Three Gates Investment Beneficial owner 120,000,000 29.33%
(Notes 2, 3)
EanEBA 120,000,000 8% f&% 17
(Hat2 - 3)

Gold-Face Finance Limited Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Shares (Notes 3, 4)
HRGFBEHERAR BEERODEZOAL 80,000,000/ A& 12
(B33 - 4)

Upbest Credit and Mortgage Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
EREERERBERRAT BEEROEZOAL 80,000,000 f&
(B33 - 4)

Good Foundation Company Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
AR AT BAEBRMDEROAL 80,000,0004% & 13
(B1i£3 - 4)

Upbest Strategic Company Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
ERRBERDA BERODERZOAL 80,000,000 f% 13
(B3 - 4)

Upbest Financial Holdings Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
BERODERZOAL 80,000,0005% f% 13
(K &t3 - 4)
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Percentage of issued

Name of Substantial Nature of interest/ Number of ordinary share capital of the
Shareholder Holding capacity shares held Company (Note 1)
N
ERITRAN
TERRER BatE BEReH FEESEREE Bl (A1)
Upbest Group Limited Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Shares (Notes 3, 4)
XEEEBRAF EEROEZHALT 80,000,0000% f& 13
(B33 - 4)

Fung Wing Cheung, Tony Beneficial owner 40,800,000 9.97%

B K EREBA 40,800,000 f% f% 13

Notes: Mt -

1. As at the date of this annual report, the Company's issued ordinary 1. RAFEREDY  ARAANEBRITEBARRK
share capital was HK$20,457,093 divided into 409,141,860 Shares of K £20,457,0937 ot © © 5409,141,8600% & i
HK$0.05 each. H1E0.05% ;T W AR 7 °

2. Three Gates Investment is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. 2. Three Gates InvestmentBA AR A E ERHNITE
Wong, who is the chairman and an executive Director of the Company. EEAEEERBEA AL FEEHEAR
Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 120,000,000 Shares 3% 38 FT#5 Three Gates Investment 100% % #& 7
held by Three Gates Investment by virtue of his 100% shareholding Three Gates InvestmentFT$5120,000,000/% A%
interest in Three Gates Investment. MR EEER -

3. 80,000,000 Shares held by Three Gates Investment have been charged 3. Three Gates Investment T #80,000,000 % % 17

in favour of Gold-Face Finance Limited (“Gold-Face”) as security for EEERTFTHRGBERAR(HEER]D - AE
a loan granted in favour of Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, the chairman, BRARBERE THED BTESRERK
chief executive officer, executive director and controlling shareholder of RERELEAERERGEMT -

the Company.

4. As Gold-Face is wholly-owned by Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited, 4. HRERBEECGEREBEERARZER

which in turn is wholly-owned by Upbest Strategic Company Limited A MERZEERRBAERAAAEERE
and Good Foundation Company Limited in equal parts, which in turn are ERAREKHABRBERARZERSHE MM
both wholly-owned by Upbest Financial Holdings Limited, which in turn # M Upbest Financial Holdings Limited % & #
is wholly-owned by Upbest Group Limited, Upbest Credit and Mortgage A © ifUpbest Financial Holdings Limited &l f
Limited, Upbest Strategic Company Limited, Good Foundation Company ZREEERAFZERE  MBREBEESFLE
Limited, Upbest Financial Holdings Limited and Upbest Group Limited =& 6 %EF BEREBBERAR EERXR
are all deemed to be interested in the security interest in the 80,000,000 E%EFE - FEEMRAF - Upbest Financial
Shares charged in favour of Gold-Face by virtue of the SFO. Holdings Limited R X2 B HR A HHER

B E T 9% £980,000,0008% Bk H A &
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Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the
Directors are not aware of any interests and short positions
owned by any other parties, other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company who held interests or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the
Company, which were required to be recorded under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who
was interested, directly or indirectly, in 10% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 8
February 2023 and the previous share option scheme of the
Company adopted on 24 November 2017 (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) was terminated on the same date. The
following is a summary of the major terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel of the Group,
to provide additional incentive for employees working
full-time and part-time as well as other eligible personnel
under the Share Option Scheme and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

(b) Eligible participants

Eligible participants include (i) employee participant(s)
including the director(s) and employee(s) (whether
full-time or part-time) of any member of the Group
(including persons who are granted Options under the
Share Option Scheme as inducement to enter into
employment contracts with the Group); and (ii) service
provider(s) including person(s) who provide services to
any member of the Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which
are in the interests of the long term growth of the Group,
which include any independent distributor, contractor,
supplier, agent, consultant or adviser to any area of
business or business development of the Group, but
exclude any placing agent or financial adviser providing
advisory services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions,
and other professional services provider such as auditor
or valuer.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

= ¥HE(E)
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Subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be
a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five (5) consecutive business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the

nominal value of the share on the offer date.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
as the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10
years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of

early termination thereof.

Grant of options

An offer for the grant of options shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of twenty-one days, including the
day in which the offer was made. The amount payable by
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance

of the offer for the grant of the option is HK$1.0.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i)  The total number of shares which may be issued in
respect of all options which may be granted at any
time under the Share Option Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the
Company shall not exceed such number of shares
as equals to 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of the adoption of the

Unless

Shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant

to sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below. options lapsed

in accordance with the terms of the Share Option

Scheme will not be regarded as utilised for the

purpose of calculating the scheme mandate limit

Share Option Scheme (“Adoption Date”).

and the service provider sublimit.
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The total number of shares which may be issued in
respect of all options which may be granted at any
time under the Share Option Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the
Company to service providers shall not exceed such
number of shares as equals to 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at Adoption Date.

The Company may seek approval of the
shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
scheme mandate limit and/or the service provider
sublimit under the Share Option Scheme after three
(3) years from the Adoption Date (or the date of
Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment),
provided that the limit so refreshed must not
exceed 10% of the relevant class of shares in issue
as at the date of passing the relevant resolution.

The Company may also seek separate approval of
the shareholders in general meeting for granting
options beyond the scheme mandate limit provided
that the options in excess of the scheme mandate
[imit are granted only to eligible participants
specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought. For the purpose of seeking
approval of shareholders under this sub-paragraph
(iv), the Company must send a circular to the
shareholders containing a generic description of the
specified eligible participants who may be granted
such options, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
specified eligible participants with an explanation as
to how the terms of the options serve such purpose
and such other information as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

(iii)
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(g) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options and awards granted to each
participant under the Share Option Scheme or any other
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue, unless approved by the Shareholders
in the manner stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

(h) Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for the
period commencing from the Adoption Date, and expiring
at the close of business on the date which falls ten (10)
years after the Adoption Date.

(i) Termination of the Share Option Scheme

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting
may at any time terminate the operation of the Share
Option Scheme and in such event no further options will
be offered but in all other respects the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted but not yet exercised prior thereto or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme and options granted prior
to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

Since the Adoption Date and up to date of this annual report,
no share options have been granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme. Details of share granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statement of this annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Shareholder’s loan agreement between Mr. Wong
and Tseyu International

On 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, a controlling
shareholder of the Company and an executive Director (“Mr.
Wong”), and Tseyu International Trading Company Limited
("Tseyu International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a shareholder’'s loan agreement in
respect of the shareholder’s loans provided by Mr. Wong to
Tseyu International. The shareholder’s loans, amounting to
HK$19,171,000, are interest-free, unsecured and repayable in
cash on demand. As the shareholder’'s loans were provided
on normal commercial terms or better and were not secured
by the assets of the Group, the shareholder’'s loans are fully
exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details
of the shareholder’s loan agreement are set out in the circular
dated 16 February 2021.

Loan agreement between Mr. Wong and Guangzhou
Xinhua

On 31 March 2020, Mr. Wong and Guangzhou Xinhua Thread
Company (EMELEAFR2AET) ("Guangzhou Xinhua"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a loan agreement in relation to the intra-group current
accounts balance in a sum of RMB16,760,277 (equivalent to
HK$18,603,907) due from Mr. Wong to Guangzhou Xinhua. It
was agreed that, among other things, interest shall be payable
by Mr. Wong to Guangzhou Xinhua to be accrued at a rate of
2% per annum on the outstanding current accounts balance
from the date of the loan agreement and the current accounts
balance shall be repaid by Mr. Wong within three years from
the date of the loan agreement. Such loan agreement has
been approved by the independent shareholders based on
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the loan
agreement are set out in the circular dated 16 February 2021
and announcements of the Company dated 8 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions
for the year month ended 31 December 2022 under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Directors and the controlling shareholders of the Company
have confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this annual report, none of the Directors,
controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) engaged
in any businesses that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group, or had any other conflict of interest
with the Group.

On 24 November 2017, each of Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert and
Three Gates Investment, being the controlling Shareholders,
entered into a non-competition undertaking in favour of
the Company, details of which were set out in the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders
— Non-competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus. Such
undertakings have been fully complied with and enforced during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.

The Board confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
no other matters are required to be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders and the potential investors.

Further, the independent non-executive Directors confirm that
they have reviewed the enforcement of such undertakings and
conclude that there are no outstanding issues regarding the
undertakings that need to be raised with the Shareholders and
the Company.

SANCTIONS UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company provided an
undertaking to the Stock Exchange that it would not use the
proceeds from the Share Offer or any funds raised through the
Stock Exchange to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly,
activities or business with, or for the benefit of, countries
that are sanctions under international sanction laws, or any
sanctioned government, entity or individual.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFgRE(E

To ensure its compliance with this undertaking and to further
enhance its risk management, the Group will continue to
evaluate any business opportunities with those countries
sanctioned under international sanction laws and will have
delegated members of the senior management of the
Company review the transaction documents from customers
or potential customers from countries sanctioned under
international sanctions laws.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group's related party transactions are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Directors confirm that during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
complied with the minimum public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022

On 8 February 2023, the Company resolved to adopt the new
share option scheme and the termination of the existing share
option scheme. For details, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 12 January 2023.

Subsequent to the reporting period, the shareholder under
Loan agreement B set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report has agreed to
provide financial support to the Group, including: i) not to
demand for repayment of the loan to the Group on or before
31 December 2023; and ii) to increase the maximum amount
of the facility from HK$8,000,000 to HK$15,000,000.

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the
Group after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report excepted mentioned above.
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AUDITOR

Asian Alliance was appointed as the auditor of the Company.
A resolution for the reappointment of Asian Alliance as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
T8 37 1% B AN i

/Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

ER(FE)EHMSEHEMBERATE

To the shareholders of Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (formerly known as Shen
You Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 84
to 269, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

FREZEE

ARERFREESREEXZHERAL
BAHUEAYBREANERRREERN
ZEETH BEEEREBENHEAVB R
RERHEKREAREEZEER A&
ETERRZTFTHREHRERER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter
HREZSEHE
Impairment of trade receivables

FE W XX 5% RIE R E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHEBERTREEFARERSEENG A

We identified impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates
in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL")
of the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.
EERERRGRIBERETEHANABEREZSEE -
THRERZSREYH ESENGEEMBERIE
BEEA - UHRETME EXEENGEHRNDERK
REFENEREEEE(AHEEFRED T8
FlETREBREME -

As disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's net trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$16,002,000
have been net off with ECL on trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$758,000 as at 31
December 2022.

BB AEMBREMFUAER R ==
TZA=+—H EEEEWUXRIREBEIFEAOR
16,002,000 7T - EE MK E W R 5 RIBNEHE
B & 18 4758,0008 7T °

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables included:

EERRERSRBEREFGRETZIRFERE:

e Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for trade receivables;

e THREUEEENMAMAARKISIRBRFEEE
18 1 1 B0 R 4R 4 I HE B

e Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix,
including trade receivables ageing analysis as
at 31 December 2022, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with
the relevant sales invoices and other supporting
documents;

e MEAAEEEF TRBEEEMBER(BHER
CEZ S+ A=+ -HHNEKRXFRIEAER
BOMMAERE  AEARBEITHAERIE
AHEEERERAMBESE XHHEE LR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
HREZER(A)
Impairment of trade receivables

FE e X 5% SKE RE

EREZEHEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHEBERTEEBRERSEENS X

As disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates
the amount of ECL of trade receivables based on
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns, after considering
internal credit ratings of debtors, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information. In addition, trade receivables
that are credit-impaired or with significant balances
are assessed for ECL individually. The loss allowance
amount of the credit-impaired trade receivables are
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit losses.
BMNGEEMBHRRWIIMRE: ESEERE
REBRBEBANANIEENTR  FERKXZHED
Rl BRELR /BB RRN BEEABELUE
BEANZEBTA D ERE LA B & E R EW
REFENTRHREEEESE - MABBEXDER
EBEARBERRNBEAENELENE WA
EHEERELRAE - i HREERENERR
SHRBNDEREHEEBBEETEBTME - HBRE
ERENERXZIFENERERBEEREER
HEELEZEREHARGEERNMGGFRERE
MERBZANEZETE -

° Challenging management’'s basis and
judgement in determining credit loss allowance
on trade receivables as at 31 December 2022,
including their identification of significant
balances and credit-impaired receivables
and, the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of the remaining debtors into different
categories in the provision matrix, and the
basis of estimated loss rates applied in each
category in the provision matrix (with reference
to historical default rates and forward-looking
information);

e HEBEEFTR-_ZT__F+-A=t+—8#%
HTHREEBEEGNRERERIRNBZERK
HE PRERESHEREHRREREERE
MEKZSREZ# EBEREEAEM
BRTEBASEZREEENTRER - A
Rt rErEEEsHEBERGGTERER(Z
ZRELEBOERAERE NEBEFEEE:

° Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables
in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements; and

e R AMBBRRMIIDTERERKRIII K
HRETHHOEE: &

° Testing subsequent settlements of credit-
impaired trade receivables, on a sample basis,
by inspecting supporting documents in relation
to cash receipt from trade debtors subsequent
to the end of the current reporting period.

e FRARBEARSHEEREREXREESHER
AZB & W KB R F A& R E
REERENERRSRNENEERE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BEREZEEE)
Impairment of other receivables

H fih FE WK TH BB

EREZEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBERTREEREERSENS X

We identified impairment assessment of other
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with
management’s estimation in measuring the ECL
under ECL model as stipulated in HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” ("HKFRS 9").
EEHBNHEMBRRIBZ RENGELSBARE
FHECDNERERBEAVBEBRRTEGECEEN - A
NEBEREAMBERELNEIRIeBITAISE
BUBEREERNFIR D MACRBEEHREEEE
BEXAARGERREEEE 2HE -

As explained in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, the balance of impairment
allowances on other receivables was approximately
HK$6,275,000 as at 31 December 2022, of which
approximately HK$1,668,000 has been charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

WA B HREWAIS@L - R F+=
A=+—H EMmERREBEBZ2REREBEEHKDOA
6,275,000 L MREBE_ZEZ=_F+=-A=1+—
HIEFE  HH1,6680008 tERGEEBERAN

Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the others receivable and the
sufficiency of impairment loss allowance based on
information including credit profile of the debtors,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, ageing of the others receivable, value of
the collaterals and expected timing and amount of
realisation of outstanding balances.

ERBEREBEBANGEERR ELH/ELHE H
rEEMRE HMEBUWREBNRER BHRREBEER
BPRARENEHRNTEHRRELEBEENTHTH
HihBWAEREAINE R REBEREREERRE °

Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the ability of the
debtors to repay the outstanding balances in order
to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.
EBENMEZRFTEERAGBRERENERRE
BRI EER A REFAOHTEHREERE -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade and other receivables included:
EEMEBRRSHHIE R HADE WK KB R AT &P
ETZREFBE:

° Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s expected
credit loss policy and methodology for impairment
assessment;

e TR BEEERHGEFBRERETRE
bz 7%

° Reviewing the reasonableness of management'’s
estimation in expected timing of collection and
the credit quality of individual debtors, including
the background of the debtors and their credit
worthiness, collection history and value of
collaterals; and

. R BIEEMAENGEHEAKKESRERR
EEEENEEY  BREBASBERHEGE -
WHRELREHRMEBE: X

° Checking the accuracy of the ageing classification
of the others receivable balances on a sample
basis.

e MWMEKTHEMEWREHRKER D BANERMKE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREEXSE(E)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Mk BERKREUAREAEEERE

EREZEHEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEBERTEEREERSENT E

The carrying values of the Group's property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets (“ROU") as
at 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
HK$6,159,000 and HK$951,000 respectively.
During the year, no impairment has been recorded
to reduce the carrying value of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to their
estimated recovered value. The carrying values of
these assets are reviewed annually by management
for potential indicators of impairment. For assets
where such indicators exist, management engages
an independent external valuer to assist them
to perform detailed impairment review of the
recoverable amount of these non-financial assets.
RoTooF4HoAE+—HB» ESEWE &
EhEZEULTAREE(ERAREEDNEREA
2 pll 49 /6,159,000 JT % 951,000/ 7T - F N » I
BOHGRESYE BEARENERAEEER
HERSEHEGFAKEDERE ZFEENREE
HEREBSFEMNUBEREGFEBERETR -
REFEEZETRNEEMS EBEBSZEB B LI
BEEMAGHRERZFHFREENTRE €
BETHARESH -

We identified the impairment of property, plant
and equipment and ROU as a key audit matter
because the assessment involves a significant
degree of management judgements and estimates in
determining the key assumptions.

EZEBYE BERSEURFERAEEERBEHRR
REBREZFE DHRARATERETEERR
Rk KEEEREHE KM -

The significant judgements and estimates and
related disclosures on the movements of properties,
plant and equipment and ROU are included in Notes
16 and 18 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

EAZENE BEAIBEUAREREEEZ TN
BARAEMAEFRBEARES ARG M BHRE
B sE16 %18 °

Our audit procedures included, among others,
involving evaluating the methodologies used by the
independent external valuer for determining the
recoverable amount, and assessing the discount
rate and market data used in the assessment of
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and ROU.

EENEZEFER (AT EE) TR BLINBMEE
MRETTKRESERERANTE XA HERARY
X BMERBREBUARERBEZEENRE BT
BIR R RIS BIE -

We also examined the underlying data used such as
management projection on the future revenues and
operating results by comparing with the financial
performance of each cash-generating unit (“CGU")
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
examining the business development plans and
historical annual growth of each CGU to evaluate the
growth rate of each CGU used in the projection.
EENMEBUBBE_T__F+_A=+—H1It
FESReEASU(REELEEN DMK RIR -
BERAEANEEEE (PN EBRRY S REE
FEMERRERA) IhBAXERFILER
TELABUMNBEFEERR  UFEREANGER
MEReEFEUIERE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
EREREZEEE)
Impairment assessing of goodwill

72 B Rl {E S L

EREZEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEBERTEERREERSEMNS E

The Group has goodwill with carrying amount of
approximately HK$6,683,000 as at 31 December
2022, which is allocated to the CGU represented
by interior design and decoration business. In
determining the recoverable amounts of goodwill,
the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer to perform such valuation. The valuation is
determined based on the value-in-use model for
the CGU discounted to their present values and
it requires the use of key assumptions, including
the discount rate, terminal growth rate, budgeted
revenue and gross margin, taking into account the
financial budgets approved by the directors of the
Company based on the management’s experience
from interior design and decorations business, and
also management’'s expectations for the market
development. During the year ended 31 December
2022, no impairment loss had been recognised on
goodwill.
EEEHE_ZT_—_F+-_A=+—ANEEkA
B4 /6,683,000 DEGAETARAMEERE
BRAREZWCGU - EETHENA KOS ER - &
SEEFBECEXELEMETZAE HERRE
CGUIrRIIFAENFEREBEERILEEN  ©HEM
AEEFRE KRHERX BERANEMNELE
NWERREBR UER BERREEZREBEETREER
EARFMECEBETENLSRENMBEER
UEREBEBOSMSERNBE - BAZE_T__
TZAZT—BLFEE BEXEERRBEERE -

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill as a key audit matter due to its complexity
and the inherent subjectivity arising from the
significant management judgment.
HRBEENEREUREREEXRANELENESR
FEM ZMEHENRETIRERBRERS
18 o

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of the carrying amount of goodwill included, but
were not limited to:
EEUREREEETRENGEENETFEER
TR :

° Understand the Group’'s impairment
assessment process, including the impairment
model performed by the independent qualified
valuer, basis of allocation of goodwill to
the CGU, the preparation of the cash flow
projection (“Cashflow Forecast”) and key
assumptions adopted in this Cashflow Forecast
through enquiries with the independent valuer
and management’s review process of the work
of the independent valuer with respect to the
valuation of CGU,;

. TR EEENRETHBE BEBILER
HEMATHREERSE  ACGUS EKEHEE W
AW SRAREBUGEMNARNEREES
BUEEBRMATHIENETETRRE  GRES
nREBA(REREFIDMR SR ERAF
KANBERMER:

° Evaluating the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and their experiences
in conducting valuation of similar goodwill;

e HEBUMAEMBRAUBMEETHENEE .
BE N ANAE B

° Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of
the carrying amount of goodwill with the
management, and together with our own
external valuation specialists, where necessary;

e REZBWEVHERSE UREREETHY
EREBENMGHE YEKERKERMEDH
SRR EER — R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
EREREZEEE)
Impairment assessing of goodwill

8 Rl {E S L

EREZEHEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHEBERTREBAEERERNAG A

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
models, the preparation of the Cashflow
Forecast and assumptions based on the
industry knowledge;

THEEELAHNEENE BETEANERR

BenERAMERR:

Evaluating the appropriateness of the
key inputs in the Cashflow Forecast by
independently checking to the relevant external
market data and/or relevant historical financial
information including budgeted revenue and
gross margin, and terminal growth rate by
considering the approved financial budgets and
the available industry and market data;
BBBEIBREHEBAINLTISHIE R HEE
FELMBES BEBERAMENE UK
ZRA ANV BEEMA] B ITENTSE
BORBERE FAHReRERAFEREE
ABBEHEE M

Comparing the historical cash flows forecast
against the performance of CGU to test the
reasonableness of projections; and
HESLSRERERAECGUNRBETLE
AAIABRANESEMY: &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of
valuation calculations.

MEREAENHEERIN -

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

77



78

Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREXSE(E)
Valuation of biological assets

EYEEME

EREZEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEBERTEERREERSEMNS E

As at 31 December 2022, biological assets
measured at fair value are classified as level 3 under
the fair value hierarchy, amounted to approximately
HK$56,793,000.

HE-T--_F+-A=1+—HB UAAREBEHNE
NEMEEEAABEERTHEERAEIR AR
56,793,000/ 7T °

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net fair
value losses on biological assets is approximately
HK$4,514,000.
HE-_ZT-_—_F+-_RA=+—BLFE £WEE
BF R ARBEEIELR4514,0008 T -

In determining the fair values of biological assets,
the Group engages independent professional valuers
to perform valuation of the aforesaid biological
assets.

EEEERTEVEENLRAALER BEBEUEE
HEME EREYNEEEITHE -

Our procedures in relation to biological assets
included, but were not limited to:

BEFHEAYEELEEHRNEFERBEEATRRN:

o Obtaining understanding of the valuation
Models and the processes through
enquiries with the independent valuers and
management’s review process of the work of
the independent valuers with respect to the
valuation of biological assets;

e EBAHEBUMEMOAR UREEEBHE
HEMEEMEEGRBE AN IENETERE -
THRAEERAMRRE:

° Evaluating the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and their experiences
in conducting valuation of similar biological
assets;

e HEBUMEBMEBEUAMEEETHED
BE g AMER:

° Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of the
biological assets with the management, and
together with our own external valuation
specialists:

s REXBWNBUMFERSET VTHEEEMNRE
MEEMGE WTHRESNHINTHEZR I

SEF

— Evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation models and assumptions based
on the industry knowledge;

— BETEAZRTHHERENEBRRNE

Bt
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BREEXSE(E)
Valuation of biological assets

EYEEME

EREZEHEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESHEBERTREBAEERERNAG A

We identified the valuation of the aforesaid biological
assets as a key audit matter due to the degree of
complexity involved in valuing biological assets,
the significance of the judgment and estimates
made by the management in determining the inputs
used in the valuation models and the subjectivity in
determination of level 3 fair value given the lack of
availability of market-based data.
HREEYEEETHEIRNERREE  URE
RRZERTSNEE  EREEREMEEE R
CHANEASBERMEOOABMMETNEENE - X
NEBERMBLAAERHETEYE &K L4
MEENGERETABEREZEIE -

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key
inputs by independent checking to the
relevant data and/or relevant historical financial
information;

BBBIBREHEBAINLTISBIE R HHEA
FELMBES HEERERABBNES

Checking the mathematical accuracy of
valuation calculations; and

REHEAENRBERE X

Making inquiry for the background of the
contracted parties and obtaining direct external
confirmations from the contracted parties
to understand the relevant investments and
identifying any conditions that were relevant to
the valuation of biological assets.
BTN ER  YRETHNWFTESEEEDNIN
R ATHREERE URETHEMEE
HEMEBEOE MGG -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD RS ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz BE ¥ ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.

RBAMHERFESVBBRRNEM

EEZERRAERTER LAAM KR
REAANFEERKFRERMER 2
EARERBLIZXREBEEEERZR
BEHE EEERBRMETMBE
MEEBGERR BTESERBRS K
s ARERNELMEN - BEETE
%$ﬁizmmﬁﬁﬂﬁ@AiEii%
BEEFNEE - aBRIFEZHKFHL
@IT%&@%E%%ﬁ@%ﬁ@W%
RREBRAMFENENRERME - X
Eﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁéi*%%%
FERHAERASEBARRATE
PRz ERaMBRERIELDNLERE
AR BERKRERM

ERRBEATITEETEZN —Hn -
me%ﬁﬂﬁ@@%%%ﬂﬁ&ﬁ%%
%E‘% EEV %7
o AW KFTH A BEF K EE AR T 8 B
REMBHmKERKERDMR R
BRERFTEEZSERABROEZE
P WERAZDREMLAETEN
ERARERHEERNEZESE - KAEH
-mﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁ%A@ L &Y @
P REERMERNRERR  AA
HFFrgE b R BE - BiE - WM$¢
B EBRRM S EBRI TG o

e HMEEZBEBAOAMIES AR
AEEEBATEENERER
BXFASYE B KB RILEH KR
BRBR -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD RS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B Az BAD R & ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Lam Chik Tong

Practising Certificate Number: P05612

8/F., Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e H b 2 | AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # =

TE - CFEAF =+ —HIFFE

Notes
B it
Revenue I &= 5
Direct cost IER DN
Gross profit E A
Other gains, net Hfh W 0 58 7
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFAX
Administrative expenses THAX
Impairment loss on financial assets, & Bl & &= B B & B F 58
net
Impairment loss on goodwill mEREEE 19
Other expenses H B
Finance costs B & R 8
Loss before tax BB RIS 1B
Income tax expense FEBHAX 9
Loss for the year FAREE 10
Other comprehensive (expense) Htt2E (B ) WA
income
Items that may be reclassified KA & B [f] 7] g 2 % 77
subsequently to profit or loss: HEEmMIER -
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBRHER
translation of foreign operations Z=H
Other comprehensive (expense) 2HEHEME2E(FE )W
income for the year, net of income A BHBRAER
tax
Total comprehensive expense for Z=F2HEBX#AHE
the year
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF KAREEANEAL
THE COMPANY
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) E AR #E (B 15

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

2022

—=-=
HK$°000

FTERT

76,274
(62,893)

13,381

2,023
(5,170)
(29,450)

(1,051)

(2,637)

(22,904)

(22,904)

(27,624)

2021
HK$'000
TAET

73,365
(568,573)

14,792
4,269
(7,023)

(23,356)

(1,520)

(12,103)

(1,634)
(666)

(27,241)

(27,241)

1,504

1,504

(25,737)

(25,737)

(7.43)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBI R

At 31 December 2022 R-F - —F+_-H=+—H
Notes
B it
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment A 16
Investment properties HEME 17
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 18
Goodwill [ 19
Intangible assets mEEE 20
Biological assets EMEE 21
Financial assets at fair value through & QA Bt A B %
profit or loss (“FVTPL") ([BAREFABRRE])

WEmEE 22
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories BE 23
Biological assets EMEE 21
Trade receivables FE W X 5 R IB 24
Contract assets BHMEE 25
Deposit and other receivables e kHMEWRFKIE 24
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 26
Tax recoverable BEEE R
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FERT R 5 IE 27
Other payables and accruals E M E A RIE R

T E H 27
Borrowings fBx 28
Lease liabilities HEBE 29
Deferred tax liability RERIEBEEE 33
Tax payables N
NET CURRENT ASSETS B EEFE

2022

5,179

38,646

9,011
45,407
16,002

2,559
21,145

2,166

1,584

97,874

23,354

10,208
32,071
1,197
619
1,143

68,592

29,282

2021

HK$'000
TAET

7814
4,361
3,383
6,683

7,059

5,253

34,5653

14,050
10,512
16,027

2,823
15,744
27,277

86,433

7,391
11,175
5,809
2,818

804

27,997

58,436
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e B R(E)

At 31 December 2022 R_-_ZFE_-—#+-A=+—H

2022 2021
—ET-—4F
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FTHExT FiE T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHERARDER
LIABILITIES 92,989
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEeEaE 1,224
NET ASSETS BEFE 67,928 91,765
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARFE
Share capital fi% A< 20,457 20,457
Reserves 15 & 47,471 71,308
TOTAL EQUITY EEBE 67,928 91,765

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 269 # M FESLE269B Y AV BEHRERE R =
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of ZT_=%=HA_ ‘I’J\EIZ%i%ATH:/E&T“

Directors on 28 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: M THTINERS
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Leung King Yue, Alex
EE# RS
Director Director
= EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z_-F - —#+_-HA=+—HIFFZ T~—~—
Share Share Merger Share option ~ Statutory  Exchange  Accumulated
capita premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

R BRAEE  AHEE BREBE  iTRE  ENGE ZitEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan i TER Tan T TER TEn Thn
Note @) Note31)  (Note (b))
Wik  HE) (W)

At 1 January 2021 W-5z-%
-A-A 12,000 68,392 (1,000) S 5,670 10,127 (49,581) 45,608
Loss for the year EnBE - - - - - - (27241) (27241)
Other comprehensive income for ~ 2EEHEARA -
the year, net of income tax BHEHER
Jtems thet mey be reclassified  RARBET#EEN
subsequently to profit or 10ss: FEZERY
Eg-
Exchange differences arising RERNEBHE
on translation of foreign HEE
operations - - - = = 1,504 = 1,504
Total comprehensive income FEREMA
(expense for the year (Fx) &% - - - - - 1,504 (27041) (25,737)
Recognition of equity settled share- %2 bUE % £ B i
based payment I - - = 1,155 = = = 1,155
Issue of consideration shares for ~ FMEEBEARE
acquisition (Note 32/ R’ Hds) 3372 20,256 - - - - = 25,628
Issue of shares (Note 30/ BRBHE0) 5,085 40,026 - - - - - 45,111
At 31 Decernber 2021 and WZFz-%
1 January 2022 Aa et B
“ECCF
A ! 130,674 (1,000) g ] : (76,822) 91,765
Loss for the year EnEE (22,904) (22,904)
Other comprehensive income for 2 EEf2EUA
the year, net of income tax BEARAEH
ftems that may be rectassified  KERBETEEH
subsequently to profit or loss: FEEERH
VIR
Exchange differences arising RERNEBNE
on translation of foreign HEE
operations (4,720) (4,720)

Total comprehensive expense FERERTOE
for the year (4,720) (22,904) (27,624)

Recognition of equity settled share- R LM EZEEM R
based payment B

At 31 December 2022 it
-A 20,457 130,674 (1,000) 4,942 i 6,911 (99,726) 67928

BEESERERAT /202248 37



88

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

I“/ p.¥

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

Notes:

(a)

—H— N\ 7/
/ ~ II\EIII\

Z2oxR(E

The merger reserve represented the difference between the Company’s
shares of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
acquired and the Company’s cost of acquisition of the subsidiaries under
common control upon the reorganisation undergone by the Group.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the companies registered in the PRC shall appropriate
a certain percentage of their net profit after tax (after offsetting any
prior years' losses) calculated under the accounting principles generally
applicable to the PRC enterprises to the reserve fund. When the balance
of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity's capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised
to offset prior years' losses or to increase capital. However, the balance
of the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of
25% of the capital after these usages. After making the appropriation to
the statutory surplus reserve, the companies may also appropriate their
profits for the year to the discretionary surplus reserve upon approval by
the board of directors or the shareholders in a general meeting.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

B et

(a)

EoFr A=t —AUEE

EVMRBEDEASEETEAR  ARFAENK
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EeWEBREERBELRNR - MAIMBERE
CREFLENE-SER - ZTBHRER
ARAREEUNEFEBERKEE - AWM &8
EMATRBHREERERLIARFTEELRD
25% ° AETE BB EBHELBRRE - RALA
KREFFIARRANBRRARG LIER  BAEF
ERMNBEEERABRHEME -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HAERTAER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Fair value loss (gain) on financial asset at
FVTPL

Fair value gains on investment properties

Fair value loss (gain) on biological assets

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Loss on written off of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect of

KR 75t B 85 18

EES
BB R
*U/%\q&)\

BRAREFABRGEZEREE

MR ER R ()
REVWENRARERR

EWEEN L RERERE M)

NE BERREBHNE
EREBENE

HENE BMERXEREZ

(W) /B8

MENE BERRBZEAR
ot P8 UL 32 5 5008 Jo HoAh B SR

trade and other receivables, net BRAZHAEBEFER
Impairment loss recognised in respect of THERRIREFBE
goodwill
Equity-settled share based payment NEREFNRNHIHHXI
expense
Gain on sales of biological assets HEEMEEN R E
Operating loss before working capital RTEEESRHAILERHR
changes
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERL/(EM)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables EBERSZERD/GEM)
(Increase)/Decrease in deposit and Be R E AR EE
other receivables (g m),/ L
Increase in trade payables e 2 5 5K | E M
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables and HMEARBERETER
accruals (R )/ m
Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets BHWEERD/CGEM)
Increase in biological assets £ & B
Cash used in operations REMARE
Income taxes (paid) refunded FEREMERE
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHFIAREFRE

ACTIVITIES

2022 2021
—s=-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHE T
(22,904) (27241)
2,637 666
(549) (158)
62 (46)
(139) (61)
4,514 (969)
1,756 1,946
2,255 1,961
(2) 1,599

62 —
1,520

12,103

3,787 1,155
(1,065) (11)
(8,535) (7.536)
5,039 (1,980)
642 (72)
(6,904) 774
15,963 125
(3,322) 4,162
264 (1,964)
(38,897) (10,628)
(35,750) (17.119)
(1,245) 163
(36,995) (16,956)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

wreBRenEaR(E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

2022
—E-=
HK$'000
THEx
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RERED
Purchase of biological assets BEAWEE
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash WENBAR  MKRRS
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERH
Proceeds from sales of biological assets EMEEHEK =
Interest received R E NS

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEW ¥ - BE K& &% & k2%
equipment

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZRHFARESFE

ACTIVITIES (8,033)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEE
New borrowings raised MEMEX 33,959
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRM TR E —
Interest paid BERFIE (1,737)
Repayment of borrowings BEER (7,697)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREaE (2,743)
Advance from directors EERX 1,445
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RBEZEHFESHLEHE 23,227
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASHAND BR4eRBREZBYWOR L) EMNELE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (21,801)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FIRERESEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 27277

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EX@BNY
CHANGES (3,310)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND SXR&RRE&ZEY
OF THE YEAR 2,166

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHE T

(7,035)
93
(2,655)
791
158

237

(8,411)

21,445
45,1
(666)
(22,831)
(2,635)

40,424

15,057

11,918

302

27,277



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

& B % R R BT R

GENERAL

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands on 18 August
2016. The registered office address of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company's subsidiaries were principally
engaged in the manufacture and selling of sewing
threads and broad categories of garment accessories,
provision of interior design, interior decoration and
furnishing services, and provision of trading of
bloodstock, stallion services and equine handling
services. During the year, the Group acquired Hua Yu
Investment Management Limited which was engaged
in securities, advising on corporate finance and assets
management by acquisition of subsidiary.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the ultimate holding company of the
Group is Three Gates Investment Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") with
limited liability and is controlled by Mr. Wong Kwok Wai,
Albert (“"Mr. Wong").

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
Dollars ("HK$"), which is also the presentation currency
of Company.

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

—BREHR
BEBBFRRARAANR-T—NF
NATNBREMEHSRAEGE

B EREHETMRIRERE
BIRADF] o 2NN A8 M 9% 5 5 i ik
AWindward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands °

ARARREREERAR - ARAH B
RAFATERFTRARKNZTER
KBMEERKEE  REHEEARGT
ERARHNENAREKRS - =EHA
BEEEE ESRBEESCEERER
BeFR AEEKRBTEERE
ERERAR  ZARRKEESF
CERERHEANEBRBENE
NEIETEEERE -

ARREFR(EBN)RATEEHEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

2.

A M ERR W e (8)

WV N

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4T A
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

2.

2.1

2.2

B 75 SR R My (8B

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on
or after 1 January 2022. The amendments update a
reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that
it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework") instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010
issued in October 2010), add a requirement that, for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination and add an explicit statement that an
acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired
in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The annual improvements make
amendments to the following standards:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

2.

2.2

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
2020 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of
assessing whether modification of terms of original
financial liability constitutes substantial modification
under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged as at the date of initial application,
1 January 2022.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by
the lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the
requirements in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by
removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts'
the October 2020

and February 2022

Amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (2022)3

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

2.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company (the
"Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the
conditions are met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(Continued)

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity's own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2022, the application of the amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (2022) (“the 2022 Amendments”)

The 2022 Amendments modify the requirements
introduced by the amendments to HKAS 1 issued
in 2020, Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (“the 2020 Amendment”) on how an
entity classifies debt and other financial liabilities with
covenants as current or non-current. The amendments
specify that only covenants with which the entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of
the reporting period affect the entity's right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date. Covenants which are required to
comply with only after the reporting period do not affect
whether that right exists at the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (2022) (“the 2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

The amendments also specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the
entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within

twelve months after the reporting period.

The amendments also defer the effective date of the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024. The amendments, together
with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024,
with early application permitted. If an entity applies the
2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue of
the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the

2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31

December 2022, the application of the amendments will

not result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity's financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures
of the Group’'s significant accounting policies. The
impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed in the
Group's future consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FEAKEIIBEBMEREFLEAN(E

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to
be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require
such items to be measured at monetary amounts
that cannot be observed directly and must instead
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by
the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional
clarifications.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("CO").

2.

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

EREETEEMBREEN(E
R BHREER ] ()

ERMEMKRERZHITERBUH
HERHEERT A (&)

BB ERER (BT F) Eat
14 &1 89 F 2 (3K)

ERZEFEITRHETEHAEEDN
RAMBBRRELEATE -

REVBBRRERERRIES
FTBUR

REMBHRRERER

REMBERRDREFTESHAMA
CEMIEEVMBRELENRH -
o AV BRERBEEABRA
XPMAER DB GEME 7 £ 8l
([GEM L £ Bl ) & & 78 » 7l & Bl

([DEHEE )R T @A REE -

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

101



102

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

As stated in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported a net loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$22,904,000 and had
approximately HK$36,995,000 net cash used in operating
activities for the year ended 31 December 2022. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group's total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$32,071,000, while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$2,166,000 only. Notwithstanding the above, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis as the Directors have given careful
consideration to the impact of the current and anticipated
future liquidity of the Group and are satisfied that:

(@) The Group will continue to explore the equine
services in the coming year, for example, looking for
other potential stallions and blood-mares. In 2023,
after the border between Hong Kong and Australia
was reopened, potential customers from the world
could finally come to Hong Kong and Australia
in person and trading of equine with the Group.
The management expected that the business
performance of the Group will improve in 2023.

(b) A shareholder of the Group has subsequently
agreed to increase the financial facilities from
HK$8,000,000 to HK$15,000,000 facilities at any
time to meet in full the Group's financial obligation
on or before 31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Through continuing the abovementioned business
strategies, the Directors believe that the Group would
be able to meet its financial obligations and fulfill its
operational needs while obtaining additional financing
resources in pursuing other businesses.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will be
able to have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for a period of not less than the next
twelve months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly,
the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern basis.
The consolidated financial statements do not provide for
further liabilities which might arise, and do not include
any adjustments relating to the carrying amount and
reclassification of assets and liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

A M ERR W e (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\‘/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & =
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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WV N

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income/consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’'s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (1) power over the investee, (2) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

A M ERR W e (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework"”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

U deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date
(see the accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

3.

REVBBRRERERRIES
FTBUR (&)

%A 6t (&)

BRUEBRBRAE T -_—_F-A A3
ZHBROEBAMHME - FAREB O &
MNEERMAENABLETAR
—E-N\FRARMGH -_FE-N\F5
BREMOSER(HR2ERDHE
ERAENER HEEBEGAEL
FI7RABE(BRMBRERER
Bg) —REF2Q1RBEANRIR
EHRIN ERFBRAT  AEHE
REBEEFTEAFEIIRIKE B (H
B REREZES) —REEN
FMEBMSCERKBINERES A
FHRAAENEE KREETT
R -

EWBER WEBANAHREEMEA
ENMEEREAAREER  BERT
1B JLBR S

s WEEMRBREEXABNERE
BERAMLHBAMNEERAR
7RI E B & & ER 125
FIEHREEGERFEI9R
BERMERRTE:

e HEFEWEITHROIMN LK
ARERREBETORND N X
BEM AT S B9 AN &R E A9 B 0 XA
ZHRBAMNAERESETA
ERBERBREEYHRELE
A F2%% 5 E(R T X & 7 I
®)

s REFBUKRESEAELRF
FHENFERBEERE KL
REEXEBESAFKELENE
E(SHEHER)REZERGE
IS4

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

109



110

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’'s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group of
cash-generating units, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating
units) retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

B 75 ¥R R B o (48

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

i.e. when

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’'s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

& M5 R R M (E)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represent s the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z _-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Input method (Continued)

Combined services of interior designs, interior
decorating and furnishing services

Combined services of interior designs, interior decorating
and furnishing services is recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the provision of service at the end
of the reporting period. The progress towards fulfilment
of construction contracts is measured with reference
to contract cost incurred for work performed to date.
Contract cost that related to provision of service are

expensed as incurred.

Sales of sewing threads

Sales of sewing threads recognised when the Company
has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and

rewards of ownership of the goods.

Sales of furnishings

Sales of furnishings are recognised when the Company
has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and

rewards of ownership of the goods.

Sales of biological assets

Revenue from sales of biological assets is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, i.e., when the products are collected by

the customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Input method (Continued)
Stallions service

Service income is recognised at the point in time when
a vet certificate is produced for confirming that a viable
live foal was produced. Service income is recognised at
the amount attributable to the Group’s interests in the
stallion.

Biological assets handling services

Service income is recognised when services are
rendered, on an accrual basis or where condition
attached to the relevant agreements and mandates is in
satisfaction of the relevant condition.

Finance advisory and assets management

The Group provides asset management and advising on
securities to customers. The corporate advisory service
income is recognised in the accounting period in which
the underlying services are rendered on a time-proportion
basis in accordance with the terms of the underlying
service agreements. Asset management fee income is
charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net asset
value of the managed accounts under management of
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another par ty before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Definition of a lease (Continued)

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components and the
aggregate stand-alone price of non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.
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120

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the announcement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a

separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying

assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the

circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentive receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the

effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone

price of the non-lease components.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure
the lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease
payments using the unchanged discount rate and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets. A lease modification is required by interest rate
benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions
are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark reform;
and

o the new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e.
the basis immediately preceding the modification).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risk and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating lease.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
lease. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by
manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial
measurement of the net investments in the leases.
Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Nonmonetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of “exchange
reserve” (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalization rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
Retirement benefit costs

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer

withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when it
recognises any related restructuring costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities' carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

130  HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

3.

REVBBRRERERREIES
ST BUR ()

EEER (&)
EHESREA

RHRERMNEBCOHABES K
REABXNGCREUAIBRB Z
BAMATREBAE - MAEDE
ERMNERDER RIEEMBEE
1 75 ¥R 5 7 Bl B Sk sk Ju FF # AR A A
ANBEKAK -

RAOKEMENESREK BEERSF
MBEMBIMIERFE FRER
BIERSAE -

pEMEHERERIERNARR
AEERHREEEEREAHAA
RERS M IELEERKBEER
MREFE - ERBRE FER
EFFEMELAMNBEREENT
MBEOEBRZTER RIERE
EAEMBRELERBRHE A H
AFABERA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

& B %5 R R MY A ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payments reserve. For share/share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
shares/share options granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in “share option reserve” will be
transferred to “share capital”. After vesting date, when
the vested share options are later forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in “share option reserve” will be transferred
to “accumulated losses”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible asset

Intangible asset acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible asset (Continued)

Intangible asset acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & =

3.

& M5 R R M (E)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

A M ERR W e (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or the group of cash-generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or the group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Biological assets

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition and
at the end of the reporting period at their fair value less
costs to sell, with any resulting gain or loss recognised
in the profit or loss for the year in which it arises. Costs
to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to
the disposal of an asset, mainly transportation cost and
excluding finance costs and income taxes. The fair value
of biological assets is determined based on their present
location and condition and is determined independently
by a professional valuer.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

B 75 ¥R R B o (48

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to
their original condition, as required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, are recognised at the date of
inception of the lease at the directors’ best estimate of
the expenditure that would be required to restore the
assets, Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate for new circumstances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —
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& M5 R R M (E)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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A M ERR W e (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

3.

REVBBRRERERRIES
FTBUR (&)

SRITHE(E)
cREEE)

CHEEZSBEREHE(HF)

ETHERT eMEESBERR

%5

s TERERNHALEMKE:
%

s IEHERARBRAKEEETE
BwA@nem TAEAN—

M BEAAZKOEREHE
MBI K

e UEFTAEEBRAEHHIIA
MOTETE -

BE S B0 A R A DA B BH AR N EF & 3K
BAREBEFAHMCEZEREREEN
THEERERBANEMAER
EHBRIBERLGAHER K
B 7] S AT B A R E

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z _-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMEBRRGEREBRTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TR (48)
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) cREEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial

CHEEZSBEREHE(H)

(a)

B35 AR T B A

HEZBERAAENESRE
EHN S WA T ERERRE
EHRB BB LA EKKEA
HgR Bt AEMLE2EK
ST AFE - BEXEL
MEEREEREENINS

assets, interest income is calculated by applying the %ﬁ TEMmET FMEBEWATE—
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount e mEE HE HREEBER
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that 7F'J EF CEHBLBRE

have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for

being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the "other gains,
et” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, contract assets and other
receivables) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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A M ERR W e (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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& M5 R R M (E)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease
in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

ma

BEBRERERRTES

FTBUR (&)

SRITHE(E)

TREEE

& H & E R E(F)

(1)

1EEmE#HEE LI

RIFEEERRES BN ®
RAKBEREME - NEBEHK
ReEAieR TARE L
BHARBREVNMAERDES /M
TABLZENORBETHLR
EFETRIES AfEEHEE
BEEEAARENEEME MK
B BRBATLTETBLENX
REBEHNANTEBSZBENE

%E'JXE : E.:HEFEJ—L %R
’ Q%JﬁLATE,DG

e ERMIAMINMIA)HK
NBEEFENERNKE
H@EEB:

s FEERRINETSEFRE
ZE PIWEBANE
EEBEZ FEENEHE
REELT:

e EHREBHEBABEITH
BEBEENEIBRE TR
BETE - M EEMNRR
BIRARIER AN EF

e CDEBELAMIBHHNEZKA
RERROBEERL:

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H

149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 A

WV N

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

B 75 ¥R R B o (48

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(1)

(ii)

(ifi)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit impaired includes observable data about the
following events:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMAENBBRRAERERRTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TR (48)
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRTE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEE(E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) T EEREE)
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) (iii) 15 B R Em %5 EE (&)
(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or (a) BBITAXBRABARE

the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past (b)
due event;
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (c)

contractual reasons relating to the borrower'’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower (d)
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that (e)
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristic when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the

substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

156  HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Fo—FA+ - A=1—HIFE

FEVBBRERERRTIES
—rﬁk%(nﬁ

TR T A (&)
TEEE (R
RIEBEZREHEE

AEEERREEERAESR %E’J
BHENERE XMx—FE
%@Eﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiiﬁ@%ﬁﬁz,ﬁﬁ
BoEBRLEED®RE - RIEEIZSH®
BE - WAKSBYEERAREH
REERZBABOAR kDR -
jfilfif‘gﬁ%”ﬁﬁ?%%ﬁ? AR & E
CEHAENEEZRBESARE
Q/ESU"JLMIEZ?FEF@EEOThﬁE
BREEANRCHICREERAE
ZRABHERREER  AAEE
CHERATREERNDERZ
R EARRBRBERER -

km

ERIBEREZBEXNAFEZER

EER EEFEEHEEKEEK
REZZBREBZPER -
ctREBERERZTER
BEEMEETEDBEANTHEDN

AENREBMAERESTANE
ESERAS WA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

3.

& B %5 R R MY A ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the management on a going concern basis.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the management, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
management considers that the Group has ability to
continue as a going concern and the major conditions and
business strategies about the going concern assumptions
are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into a sublease arrangement as
lessor on certain buildings. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the leasehold land
and the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the leasehold land, that it retains substantially all the
significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leasehold land which are leased out and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising
from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group's investment properties are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
in determining the deferred taxation on investment
properties, the Directors have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes
in fair value of investment properties as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(a)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to enterprise income tax
in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").
Judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxations. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future, which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty especially in the current year given
the significant uncertainty on how the COVID-19
pandemic may progress and evolve. In cases where
the actual future taxable profits generated are less
or more than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or
further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group's
financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$5,179,000 (2021: HK$5,253,000) are measured
at fair value with fair value being determined based
on an independent valuer and the surrender value
of the policy of the financial assets. Judgement and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value
of these instruments. Further details are contained
in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’'s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables

Trade receivables, contract assets and other
receivables with significant balances and
credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(e)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and ROU assets

Property, plant and equipment and ROU assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset
(including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment and ROU assets
based on higher of fair values less cost of disposal,
and value in use (“"VIU"). The carrying amount of
the relevant assets do not exceed the recoverable
amount and no impairment has been recognised
(2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are valued at fair
value less costs to sell. The fair value of biological
assets is determined based on either (i) the
market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the
species, age, growing condition, costs incurred
and expected yield to reflect differences in
characteristics and/or stages of growth of the horse;
or (ii) present value of expected net cash flows
discounted at a current market-determined rate,
when market-determined prices are unavailable; or
(iii) the cost when appropriate. Whilst the Group
considers these valuations are the best estimates,
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in
greater market volatility and may cause further
disruptions to the Group, which have led to higher
degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations
in the current year. Any change in the estimates
may affect the fair value of the biological assets
significantly. Independent professional valuers and
the management review assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in
the fair value of the biological assets. Details of
assumptions used are disclosed in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mm

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

4.

& M5 R R M (E)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(g)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group of
cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise. Furthermore,
the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties
in the current year due to uncertainty on how the
COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and
volatility in financial markets, including potential
disruptions of the Group's interior design and
decoration operation.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill is HK$6,683,000 (2021: HK$6,683,000),
net of accumulated impairment of HK$12,103,000
(2021: HK$12,103,000). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(h)

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value
based on the valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. The determination of the
fair value involves certain assumptions of market
conditions which are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Whilst the Group
considers valuation of the Group's investment
properties are the best estimates, the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater
market volatility depending on how the COVID-19
pandemic may progress and evolve, which have
led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect
of the valuations in the current year. Changes to
these assumptions, including the potential risk
of any market violation, policy, geopolitical and
social changes or other unexpected incidents as a
result of change in macroeconomic environment,
travel restrictions implemented by many countries,
increased complexity in international trade tensions
geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/
or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values
of the Group's investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties (Continued)

The Directors have performed internal assessment
on the risks of change in macroeconomic
environment through performing sensitivity analysis
in relating to the Group’s investment properties.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
the Group’s investment properties is HK$4,500,000
(2021: HK$4,361,000).

Estimated impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment annually. In determining
whether intangible assets are impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z _-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFZ

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4., EESTTHERMGTTEEHEN

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets
(Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether the carrying

FERIR(E)

b 5T R E MR E EROR (&)

(i)

B EE M REE)

RBREAMAMT  ~NEEEAE
HHE e CEFEFG:
NEEREERBREANUAYK

value of an asset can be supported by the BB ARERAER X
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, FOAEBRBEFEREEM
the net present value of future cash flows which E’J%Xﬁimngﬁ@ R

are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (2) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the
assets belong, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives subject
to impairment assessment were approximately
HK$3,788,000 (2021: HK$Nil). No impairment loss
was recognised to intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives (2021: Nil). Details of the impairment
testing on intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are disclosed in Note 20.
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4T A

I

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & =

5.

B 75 SR R My (8B

TE - CFEAF A=+ —HIFFE

REVENUE

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

5. Wz

(i)

Segments

7

Types of goods or services

EmSREER

Types of goods or services: EREREER:

Manufacture and selling of sewing BABEERIEE
threads

Interior decorating and furnishing ERNEMEEANREZ
services AR 7

Interior design services AT AR

Sales of furnishings REHE

Equine service 55U R 7%

Total #at

Geographical market — location of

WwETE - FFNLE

customers
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FER(TBEERS)
Hong Kong BB
Middle East PR
Mauritius FEE Rk
Australia BN
Others H
Total wat
Timing of revenue recognition: AW R
Overtime — ER 5 [

At a point in time

RE— B H

Total

L

REZEFEHANKEZEDE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F & T FET
50,972 54,517
15,145 14,824
830 1,430
1,625 1,803
7,702 791
76,274 73,365
25,756 30,938
21,236 22,175
WAL 15,401
5,107 4,718
7,008 —
68 133
73,365
16,254
57111
73,365
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REVENUE

(i)

5.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers (Continued)

Segments
il
Types of goods or services

EmdRBEEE

Manufacture and selling of sewing

threads
Trading of sewing threads

BAREERKEE

BRORES

iy

(i)

Interior design and decoration
service

EARFTREBSRE

Interior decorating and furnishing EREM R ENRZ
services Rk 7%

Interior design services AT AR

Sales of furnishings RIEHE

Total @t

Equine service BER®

Trading of equines FrES

Equine related services 5 U 48 AR 7%

Total @t
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HK$’000

TER

50,972

15,145
830
1,625

17,600

2021

HK$'000
TAET

54,517
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1,430
1,803

18,057
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REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the industrial products and payment is
generally due within 30-90 days from delivery.

Combined services of interior designs,
interior decorating and furnishing services

Interior design services, interior decorating and
furnishing services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date. Revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation
using input method.

The Group's service contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
design period once certain specified milestones are
reached. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits range from 10% to 30%
of total contract sum, when the Group receives a
deposit before design service commences, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the start
of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.
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REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Sales of furnishings

For trading of furnishings, revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been delivered to the specific
location and confirmed by the customers. There
is no credit period given on billing for trading of
furnishings.

Equine services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
completion of trading of bloodstocks, stallion
services and equine handling service, payment is
generally due within 30 days from delivery.
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or
less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the
CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
commenced the business engaging in advising on
securities, corporate finance and asset management
along with the acquisition of Hua Yu Investment
Management Limited (as detailed in Note 32) they
are considered as the new operating and reportable
segments by the CODM.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
commenced the business engaging in interior design
and decoration service along with the acquisition of
Diamond Motto Limited (“DML") and its subsidiaries
("DML Group”) (as detailed in Note 32), together with
the equine services, they were considered as the new
operating and reportable segments by the CODM in year
2021.

The Group now has four (2021: three) reportable
segments. The segments are managed separately as
each business offers different products and services and
requires different business strategies. The Group has
four reportable segments under HKFRS 8 as follows:

Manufacture and selling of sewing threads

— manufacture and selling of high performance
sewing threads and broad categories of garment
accessories

Interior design and decoration

— provision of interior design,
furnishing services

interior decorating and

Equine services

— provision of trading of bloodstocks, stallion services
and equine handling service

Advising on securities, corporate finance and
asset management

— provision of advisory on securities, corporate
financial advisory services and asset management
services
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 #HZ=F = —F+-A=+—HIFEF

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. EBER(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results (a) ZERBEMEE

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue
and results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Manufacture
and selling
of sewing
threads

L LS

Interior
design
and decoration

ERRG

LEMHE R## ENRH
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
TEn TAT TAL

Equine
services

Reportable segment RENFELHT
revenue from extemal  RESHHA
customers

Inter-segment sales 7 Hhf S

Reportable segment profit 7 % 5 B &

floss) (BB (3.213)

Corporated and TERAABRR

unallocated expense

FRERRABE

Group's loss before tax

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(9,758)

ATRBEAREMEED B H
RE B ARG DA

Bz —-_—

L E

Advising on
securities,
corporate
finance

and asset
mana ement

HiEs

mﬂﬁ&ﬁé‘*&

BEESR
HK$'000
TAn

#+=A=+-8

Adjustment
and
eliminations

AR AR
HK$ 000
TR

(10,875)

(12,029)

(22,904)

BE-—Z-_—f+=-HA=+-—H

IEFEE
Manufacture
and selling Interior
of sewing design and Equine
threads decorgnon services Total
gog ERE T S
FEMEE REE SERHB B
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FER TER TET FEL
Reportable segment revenue from RENBEFHARE
external customers DE WA 54,517 18,057 791 73,365
Reportable segment profit (loss) UHRESHFE(ER) (6,979) 1,999 (380) 5,360)
Corporated and unallocated expense TERRPBERY (21,881)
Group's loss before tax FEEBRBAES (27241)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4T A

I

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

6.

B 75 SR R My (8B

Fo—FtZA=F—

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment profit (loss)
represents the profit earned by/loss from each
segment without allocation of central administration
costs, directors’ emoluments and finance costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market
rates.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Manufacture
and selling
of sewing
threads

LENHE
HK$'000
TER

ARENHEE
LERADREE

Reportable segment assets 38,395
Corporated and unallocated

assets

Reportable segment liabilities "R &2 H & & (10,267)
Corporated and unallocated ¥ RANEEE

liabilities

HiFFE

6. ZHEMRE)

(a)

(b)

Interior
design and
decoration

ERRE
R&#
HK$'000
TER

25,212

(8,783)

pa- i IES {¢ )]

Ry B EY & AT R S SR

MASENEFERR - 2D
%Biﬁ?’iﬂ(l@ﬂéi)#ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬂxz
wmA R YESRP R
BRA BEZMEMBEXE -
ST E R D B k&R B FER
TBEEBRREZRNGTE -

DEHEBEERRITMBERIK

HR o

THEERAE

UTREBAREDHHAKE
EEMABENDN:

BEC=
ILtEE

E--f+=-A=+-*H

Advising on
securities,
corporate

finance
and asset
management

REE . E
BERAE
EERMHES
HK$'000
TH7

Equine

services Total

ELRE
HK$'000
TEx

2y ﬂ—|-
HK$'000
TER

61,035 4117 128,759

1761

136,520

(41,773) (61,454)

(7138)

(68,592)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z _-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DIER(E)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) " HEEREE (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z-—-+=-HA=+—H
LEE
Manufacture
and selling Interior
of sewing design and Equine
threads decoration services Total
g% zhR \
FEMBEE REE SRS o

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL

Reportable segment assets MaEsHEE 42,482 26,709 21,457 90,648
Corporated and unallocated assets PERROREE 30,338
120,986
Reportable segment liabilities TRENHERE (13,949) (11,487) (3,038) (28,474)
Corporated and unallocated liabilities TERKRAREE (747)
(29,221)
For the purposes of monitoring segment RIEEZDBRENED B Z
2N
performance and allocating resources between MREER:
segments:
° all assets other than certain of the Group's ¢ MBEE(TREE TAR
o @ o
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use BYx - BERSER &
5 : = IE .
assets, other receivables, financial assets at ﬁHTEéiE_ H A R SR
>\ = g 25 W =1
FVTPL and cash and cash equivalents are ?ZL”'JE ”+)u/§\m£]$ﬁm
allocated to operating segments; and REMBERASEY)
OB EEDH: &
° all liabilities other than certain of the Group’s ° AERB(TRERRES
‘;tl—z 1=
other payables and lease liabilities are iﬁﬁﬂrﬁ IE)SU"E,\E
/'\_L 5
allocated to operating segments. &) # o B ke & ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE—F = == F=—4—H I} EE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEPER (&)
(c) Other segment information (c) Hftby HE R
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-_—_F+=-ZA=+-—
HiEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit A EDEHEE D B A

EJZJ%TEZ@%’,E-

or loss on segment assets:

Advising on
securities,
Manufacture Interior corporate
and selling design finance
of sewing and Equine  and asset
threads  decoration services management Unallocated
#H8  ERRG HER ﬁE
EENHE EEfE  BREEK SER{EE ADEM
HK$000  HKSD00  HK$'000 HK$009 HK$'000
T T TR T TR
Amounts included in the measure of AP ERRENEE
segment profits or loss or segment hagEEL A4
assets: E: .
Addition to property, plant and equipment  AAN% - BERZE
Addition to biological assets DAENEE
Depreciation of property, plant and nE- BERRENE
equipment ) N
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREZENE
Fair value gains (losses) on financial assets &2 A B A B &S
at FVTPL, net TRAENDAE
ba(BE) 58
Impairment loss recognised on trade and B R 5308 R A fh
other receivables, net of reversal EAERD 2 HE
BE k&R
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating FEHRHEATIELERKER
decision marker but not included in the measure of TEEESHRFZHEBERD
segment profit or loss or segment assets: HEENGHERNEE:

Advising on
securities,
corporate
finance

and asset
management
t¥

BEs-

Manufacture Interior
and selling design
of sewing and
threads  decoration

#08  ERRE

Equine

services Unallocated

Government grants
Interest income

Finance costs

Other gains (losses], net

Shb = =
= myem =

TENHE &3

Bkt > 157

HK$'000
TR TRr

HK$'000

209 130

549 -
133

394

ERRE

HELEE
EERMER
HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TAT

2116
(2581)

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z _-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DHER(E)
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) HftbypIEFR (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE-_—F+=-A=+-—
HIEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit AT ED EBEE 29 % F
or loss on segment assets: SEBE e
Manufacture
and selling Interior
of sewing design and Equine
threads decoration services Unallocated Total
b ENRE
EENHEE REE BIERS KA B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT ThER TAL TRAL TAL

Amounts included in the AHFERBEN

measure of segment profits BN H K E R

or loss or segment assets: RPPEE:
Addition to property, plant and £ MZJ% BER

equipment & 1,596 543 — 516 2,655
Addition to right-of-use assets #I A\ AiEE & - 252 - 765 1,017
Addition to biological assets ~ MA LN EE - - 15,230 - 15,230
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - B E R &

and equipment bl 1,139 667 iz 140 1,946
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEENE

assets 1,584 123 — 254 1,961
Fair value gains (losses) on B AREHAER

financial assets at FVTPL, EREEN

net AhBEYNE

(BR)FE 136 - (90) — 46

Impairment loss recognised 5B X 5B |k

on trade and other At EW AR

receivables, net of reversal A ZEEBRE

nEEm 1,453 52 - 15 1,620

Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BER

plant and equipment REBEZER 1,599 - — — 1,599
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\‘/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & =

& M5 R R M (E)

- —FF A=+ —HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6. o EER(E)

(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) HfttopZBEFR (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 E-R_—F+ZA=t-—
(Continued) B ik & & ()
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating THRHEGIELERKEEE
decision marker but not included in the measure of TBEEED ”51 BN EBERID
segment profit or loss or segment assets: MEENGEFHNESE:
Manufacture
and selling Interior
of sewing design and Equine
threads decoration Services Unallocated Total
Ea& ERR; \
EEMEE REE IR & RARH @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TER FET FET
. _________________________________________________|
Addition to non-current assets  # AFERE A E
— goodwill — Bz — 18,786 — — 18,786
Impairment on goodwill HERE = 12,103 = = 2,103
Government grants B 76 B 47 - - — 47
Interest income MERA 158 - — - 158
Finance costs BEKA 255 381 = 30 666
Other gains (losses) Hi = (B8 3,312 71 1,147 (261) 4,269
HBEBERBMRAT /20225
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERNE(E)

- For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. EBER(E)
(d) Geographical information (d) EER

The Group's operations are located in the PRC, REBRERAN R - BN
Australia and Hong Kong. Information about the REB - BBEASEERAIIIP
Group's revenue from external customers is EFHMUEZERDRELEH
presented based on the location of the operations. B2V -FHEAEEIERDE
Information about the Group’s non-current assets, E-EEERIALREE)N
excluding financial instruments and goodwill, is BRI RBEEENHMEMNEZ
presented based on the geographical location of the B o
assets.

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets

Wi RESNBEF FRBEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= SECEE —E-C o

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TET

PRC i 25,756 30,938 2,666
Hong Kong &8 42,816 42,427 12,732 10,584
Australia M 7,702 a 11,386

76,274 73,365 26,784
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z_-F - —#+_-HA=+—HIFFZ
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. oHER(E)
(e) Information about major customers (e) BEEXEEZFFNEHR
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of BASEBEBIKETRB0% I £
the total revenue of the Group are as follows: MEFPHKRZERT:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E—%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T T FET
Customer A’ EPA 17,099 15,401
1 Revenue from manufacture and selling of sewing threads 1 WENBEERDERB 2 W= -
service.
7. OTHER GAINS, NET 7. Hibkzs o FE
2022 2021
— === T
HK$'000 HK$'000
T % T FET
Rental income el A 1,239 1,169
Fair value (loss) gains on financial XA REFAEZZ
assets at FVTPL, net EMEEZARE
(E518) = F 58 (62) 46
Fair value gains on investment REMERN A AERZE
properties 139 61
Exchange gain, net [ 5 U == F 58 1,437 1,292
Fair value (loss) gain on biological 4 & E X RE(EE)
assets, net Wz F 5 (4,514) 969
Interest income A B U A 549 158
Insurance compensation R EEE 1,234 S
Government grants (Note) KT w8 8L (B 22) 483 47
Gain on sales of biological assets HE X MEENHRZE 1,065 =
Others E b 453 527
2,023 4,269
Note: By it -
The amount represented the subsidy received from the Government of ZEeBEBETAFEBRTWBRA M - ER
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There was no unfulfilled L B 5% 8 b T BT B e R 2 K A 6 1 R E A S A
condition and other contingency attached to the receipt of subsidy. £ ©
gnEsERaRAT /202268 181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 A

N

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

B 75 R R MY ()

Eo—FfZHA=F—HIFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. ®EMAK
2022 2021
—E=-= —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Interest expense on borrowings and &£ A B & i&E X
overdrafts 366
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBREMERAX 300
Interest expense on overdue trade wH BN R 5 IR
payable FMERX —
Total finance costs A& K AN 666
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE FrigBipx
2022 2021
e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Current income tax VAR AT 13 Bt T

The Group is subjected to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions
in which subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and
operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman lIslands and BVI, the Group is not subject to any

income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision
for Hong Kong tax has been made for the Group as the
Group did not generated any assessable profits arising in

Hong Kong.

No provision for corporate tax has been made for the
Group's operation in Australia as such operation incurred
loss for taxation purpose for the year of assessment

2022 (2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B HmRMN T (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective
regulations, the subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are subject to corporate income tax at a rate of
25% on the taxable income.

Companies incorporated in Australia are subjected to
Australian income tax at the rate of 25% (2021: 25%).

The income tax for the year can be reconciled from the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

9.

Eo—FfZHA=F—HIFE

P& i ()

BERBEMMESHREEREBERT R
FERMEE B RA R AR ES
%RM&U\E’J%%%MNJL%% oo

B OM B PR SZ 89 X R 2R #R25% B9 X

=R N T 15 %Fb(_f——i
25%) °
AFEERMEHEARABIRNNEM

EERAZHRBRAGBESERMOT

2022 2021

T —%F

HK$"000
TER

Loss before tax B B A B 1B (22,904)

Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate A FE M B E W

HK$'000
TAT

(27,241)

T 58
Expenses not deductible for tax EE A0l 53
Income not subject to tax = AN
Utilisation of tax losses i I8 B 1R A A A
Tax losses not recognised RAERHIEEE
Income tax charge for the year FARBHIZH

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$11,153,000 (2021: HK$9,478,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose.

The Group has tax losses arising in the PRC of
HK$14,318,000 (2021: HK$22,323,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits.

No deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect
of these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

(4,775)
2,019
(168)
(323)
3,247

AEBREBSEENR BEIB
11,153,000/ 7T (ZZF =—4F : 9,478,000
BILBR—ZRAFRNER - JHER
HARRERT G - EIFH R -

ARERFBEELEZHBEEBERA
14318000/%75(_7_ %F © 22,323,000
BT) BR—ERFAEH - LK H
RIRERBUEH °

B R R 2 e A 2R R B9 S B BRI E
VEARBEERABELERBEEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 A

N

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 # & —

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

11.

B 75 R R MY ()

Eo—FfZHA=F—HIFE

Loss for the year is arrived at after charging:

Auditor’'s remuneration
Cost of inventories sold

— Interior decorating and furnishing

services

—Sales of furnishings
Cost of bloodstocks sold
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Loss on written off of property,
plant and equipment

Employee benefit

12 B R 5 B

BEETFEKAE
— Manufacture and sewing of threads — #& 4 & 4 &

— EREKH

kER

BR 2% R 75

— REHE

BEEMESKA
ME - BERZE

e

ERAREERE
n‘l’)\fﬂ% EL A E
ZHEEHE

HEWE BERR

2 (&

)/ EBR

R
BE®A

Impairment loss recognised in respect &t & W 2 5

of trade and other receivables

1t F& U 5K
B BB

18

WIENE

X TE HE 72

Impairment loss recognised in respect 7t 7 2 R 2 B E

of goodwill

& 18

10.

STAFF COSTS

Employee costs (excluding Directors
and chief executive's remuneration)
Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions
Severance payments

1.

BERA(TBRES

RAT AR B H )

TERF
RIRE T EIE R

EHE
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FRER

FABBECHEKTIIER

2022
—E=-=

HK$'000

FE T

1,128
42,768
826
1,463
5,327

1,756
2,255

208

(2)

62
18,572

BT

2022
—E-=

HK$"000

TERT

15,488
2,919
165

18,572

2021
HK$'000
TAET
1,11
44,723
2,519
1,092
780

1,946
1,961

349

1,599

19,263

1,520

12,103

2021

HK$'000
TET

15,824
3,287
152

19,263




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZ_—F - —F+-_H=+—HIFEF \
12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 12. EE - THABREEHMH
SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration for the year, R E AR GEM Em R Bl & A A g
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules PlIEENARFEEERESHFH®
and CO, is as follows: ™
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—FE-__F+-A=+—HLFE
Equity
Basic settled Retirement
Director salaries and share-based scheme
Name fees allowances payments  contributions Total
9.8 NEREE
" EEnd Fiib-41 WRAXE BASRER b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL TER TARL THEL
Chief Executive and BEYTE
Executive director: RYTES:

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert =B &% 4

Executive directors: HTES:

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch ~ BB R &4
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex 2 E# L4
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah ~ BEX %4

(Note (a)) (H##(a)
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath % 4
(Note (b)) (B i)
Independent non- BUFHTES

executive directors:
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming ~ REB L4
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold & # Bt % &
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel RAEREL4E

Total: @it

wsEsEREeRAR /2024% 18D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A BEBRERMTEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 12. EE - THEARKESHM(E)
SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—FE_—F1t-A=1+—HLFE
Equity
Basic settled Retirement
Director salaries and share-based scheme
Name fees allowances payments contributions Total
EXEs NEREE
i3] BN iz e MRHZA  BREARER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TAL ThEr TiEx TiER
L' ' ']
Chief Executive and BEREGTE
Executive director: RYTEES.
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert & & &£ 4% — 1,823 — 18 1,841
Executive directors: BTEE.
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch  BRR %4 - 480 s 18 498
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex ~ RER%E — 480 — 18 498
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah ~ BEX &4
(Note (a)) (1 #a) - 533 1,155 12 1,700
— 3,316 1,155 66 4537
Independent non- BUEHTES:
executive directors:
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming ~ RIEB %4 180 — 2 L 180
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Armold  FR £ BT & £ 180 = = 218 180
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel AREL4E 180 = = — 180
540 — — — 540
Total: o 540 3,316 1,155 66 5,077

186 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

12.

& B %5 R R MY A ()

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (“Mr. Ma"”) was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 13 May 2021.

(b) Mr. Shane McGrath (“Mr. McGrath”) was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 3 January 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

On 31 August 2022, Mr. Ma and Mr. Leung King Yue,
Alex (“Mr. Leung"”), the executive directors, were
granted share options, as incentive to Mr. Ma and Mr.
Leung under the share option scheme of the Company.

On 3 January 2022, Mr. McGrath, an executive director,
was granted share options, as incentive to Mr. McGrath
to join the Group under the share option of the Company.
Mr. McGrath has over 20 years of experience in the
horse racing and breeding industry in Australia.

On 13 May 2021, Mr. Ma was granted share options, as
incentive to Mr. Ma to join the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. Since 2009, Mr. Ma
has involved in the horse breeding industry and is a
shareholder of various stallions in Australia and manages
various syndicates which own broodmares, yearlings
and racehorses in Australia. Mr. Ma is also the Hon
Secretary (Racing) of the Hong Kong Racehorse Owners
Association.

The Board foresee with Mr. Ma and Mr. McGrath's
experience in the horse breeding industry, the business
of equine service will be more efficient and smoothly.

12. EE -

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

THARBKESHMH(E)

(a) HEXELE(SERENR-_FT=-—F1
AT=ZREZEALXRBANTES -

(b)  Shane McGrath’t 4 ([McGrath & £ ]) i
CE - —EFE-F-ZAEZEEAELRQTH
TESE -

FHRATEZEZHME IR RFEE
BARRAREAKEEHEROREM
A e

ERBIFATEETNTFMASEE
ERRREENFHMH -

FABEBEEFTHATHAZIBELR
ERELCAFMOLZY -

RZE-_—_FNA=+—H #§17E
ESLEERREMEENREEDR

RN AR R At B & R BB R
EREFEERRELENER -

RZE-_—_F—HA=H 1178 =
McGrath 7t & 1B 15 A 2 5] B8 IR 1 & 3%
BE N HE - {E BB EIMcGrath %t &£ 10 A
KEB o McGrath i ERNBNEE K
BEBITEBRBB0FLER -

RZEZ—FRHA+T=A FEER
BAARIBERETSERERE -
EEBEBELTEMALRER - 5=
ZTNFUR EEENMSREEEE
ﬁﬁ% E?QUHXEE%/JE¥E’]H§
R oUHRBRNEEEEEESE
BRENMNESENEEHEE  FEED
AEESEIHENEERE(EES
%) e

EEZCEHEES L E KMcGrath it

ERBEEREXENRER BMANS
CRBEFZHERRAIRF -

BRBEBFERERAT /2022F H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IR R M R (88)

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12.

SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in the
financial services sector, mainly in compliance and
asset management. The Board foresee with Mr. Leung
experience in the financial industry, the Group can the
new financial advisory services business in a more
efficient and smoothly.

Details of the share option scheme are set out in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13.

The five highest employees of the Group during the year
included four (2021: two) Directors, details of whose
emoluments are set out in Note 12 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2021:
three) highest paid employee who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2R EWEF

Pension scheme contributions RIREEFEIMH R

_ For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-_HA=+—HIFEF

EE THAIRESHMGE)

RELAESBRERI(EZENRARN
EEEETEEAR0FKR - &
EERM BEREENRERMEZ
R ANEBEREAR M NRIERN M
RAMBEERERS -

BREAIAFBEIRGEATBERSR
M 3E3T ©

hEREHMAL

FRAAEEREESTFWMALZRIE
NE(ZEZ—F WMRB)EE EFH
Mﬁﬁﬁ%timﬁmo$¢rﬁ
T—%(Z% T ZR)EARR
%$T?HﬁﬁAEmﬁm%@E
W BFBET:

2022 2021
—E- = o B e =L e
HK$'000 HK$'000

F % T FHT

996 2,475
18 54

2,529

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the Directors whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000% 7T &
1,500,000 7T

FHERNATANNRSHMESR (K
WIEE)ABEWMT:

2022 2021
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
—=E_-— — T —4F

BAHE AAHE
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Z,—H

I

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & =

& M5 R R M (E)

TE - CFEAF A=+ —HIFFE

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13. EEESFMAL(E)
(Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and REE_ZT-__FR-_T=_—F+=
2021, except as described in Note 12 and above, no A=+—HLEFE AEEHEXN
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the E B (B M 12k i HEIN T
Directors, chief executive and supervisors or any of the TAESE TREAZRESHTNM
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or ﬁ%?m%/\i%f’ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬂéﬁ%%l?&
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of EMBEAREE BB BB AE -
office.
14. DIVIDENDS 14. BRE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary RBE_ZE-__F+-A=1+—HB1L
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 FE Y ERARALBBRERIK
December 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed MRS TERBEHKE
since the end of the reporting period (2021: Nil). BKEARE(ZTE_—F &)
15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. EREIE
Basic losses per share BREXEE
2022 2021
—E- = —E—%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Losses &8
Total loss attributable to owners of the NAIHAB ANEILEE
parent BB (22,904) (27241)
Shares vy
Weighted average number of ordinary AUFFEEREAREBEN

shares for the purpose of basic loss
per share

3R B o0 4 15 2K
CUERPARE 366,825,000

Basic and diluted loss per share (HK

BREARREEER GBI

cents) (Note) (K1 at) (7.43)
Note: Bt aF -
The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 BE_FT__FR-F-_-FTZA=t-8H
and 2021 was the same as the basic loss per share as all the potential EFEFENGREIHERARGREXEBHER -

ordinary shares were anti-dilutive.

RN AEEEEBRARBESZE -
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A RERNE(E)

_//\ For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ_—F - —F+-H=+—HIFEF

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% - KEKRZE

Production Office Leasehold
Buildings machinery  equipment improvement Vehicles Total
BT EEHE  BLERE HENE RE &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAR TAR TER TER TER
31 December 2022 ZEIZETZR
=t-A
At 31 December 2021 and at RZBZ-£+Z5
1 January 2022: =t-BR-E-Z
E-f-8:
Cost A 31,568 41,181
Accumulated depreciation and SHAERNME
impairment (28,627) (33,367)
Net carrying amount EH%E 2,941 7814
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated R=E--£--8-
depreciation NhEHNE 7814
Additions RE 462
Disposal L& (19)
Written-off i (62)
Depreciation provided during the year R ERGHEN & (1,756)
Exchange realignment ERAR (280)
At 31 December 2022 net of 2
accumulated depreciation and =t-0 ENKZ
impairment HMERNRE
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+CA
=+-A
Cost KA 29,164 2,281 1,660 38,452
Accumulated depreciation and ZHAERNE
impairment (27,062) (2,210) (1,527) (32,293)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,102 133 6,159
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERRHE (&)
(Continued)
Production Office Leasehold
Buildings machinery equipment  improvement Vehicles Total
L TEHE  BAER HEyE e @it

HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TR TR TR TATL TETL

31 December 2021 ZEI-FtIf
=+-H

At 1 January 2021: R-E--%-f-R:
Cost WA - 31415 2,122 69 1,980 35,086
Accurnulated depreciation and ZHMERAME

Impairment = (27872) (1,987) (33) (1,604) (31,496)
Net carrying amount EE%E - 3,543 135 36 376 4,090
At 1 January 2021, wW_FZ-%-A-R-

net of accumulated depreciation BNREHTE - 3,543 135 36 376 4,090
Additions RE — 1,413 407 177 58 2,655
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  REH B A FFIE 3819 - 86 820 = 4,725
Disposals & - (1,366 (23) (434) (13) (1,836
Depreciation provided during the year A EREHENE (145) (760) 249) 598) (194) (1,946
Exchange realignment ERBE - 11 5 - 10 126
At 31 December 2021 net of S

accumulated depreciation and Zt-0 BNBZ

impairment HMERAE 367 2,941 361 601 237 7814
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F1+ZR

=+-A

Cost A 4193 31,568 2523 924 1973 41,181
Accurnulated depreciation and 2HFERAE

impairment (519) (28,627) (2,162) (323) (1,736 (33,367)
Net carrying amount BHEE 3,674 2,941 361 601 27 7814
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

192

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over term of lease
10% to 20%

20% to 30%

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%

Buildings

Production machinery
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement

Vehicles 20% to 30%

The Company's buildings with carrying amount of
HK$3,529,000 (2021: HK$3,674,000) has been pledged
to secure the Group’s bank overdraft and borrowings
(Note 28).

Impairment assessment

Following a review of the business, which takes
into account the deteriorating outlook for the textile
industry business, and the Group’'s future business plan,
management has reassessed the carrying values for
all the property, plant and equipment and ROU assets
(Note 18) as at 31 December 2022. During the year, the
carrying amount of the relevant assets do not exceed
the recoverable amount and no impairment has been
recognised (2021: no impairment).

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
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16. 1% - BWERRE (&)

TERRBEKEFEN  REME
MERSTAKESEYE BER
REBORAPHEEERE - AR
B EBEFMERMT :

g¥F R BER

EEES 10% £20%

N 20% £30%

HEYEEE EHEFTHRK
20% K) W &
BRHE

TE 20% £30%

AKAA RMEEA3,529,0008 L (=&
——%F:3,674,0008 L) 2B FE IR
WIERAEEBRTEIREE 2
R (M 5£28) »

LB

¥ OBE2E EEIHHBENST

BREAAREBEEBHAISEEB/LMA
EEMRREKE  EEEBEHN
HGETR-BEZ S+ _-A=1+—8H
WEYE BMELIXBEARER
BEEMEBDEBE(NE18) - FA - 1H
BEEEREBETEBBETKE £
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

16.

& M5 R R M (E)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

Regarding the sewing thread industry business, the
Group has two CGUs, i) production line for polyester
threads (“CGU1"”); and ii) production line for nylon
threads (“CGU2"). The recoverable amount of CGU was
determined at VIU and fair value less costs of disposal as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively. VIU and fair
value less costs of disposal are categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy and are measured based on
the independent valuer and latest available market data
sourced from an independent second-hand machinery
and equipment agent as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The recoverable amount of polyester threads and nylon
threads product line as at 31 December 2022 was
determined based on value in use calculation and based
on certain key assumptions. Value in use calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a
five-year period, which is taking into account the useful
lives of plant and machinery. The discount rate used for
the value in use calculations is at 10.50% (2021: 10.50%).
Cash flow beyond the five year period were extrapolated
using a 6% (2021: 3%) steady growth rate. This growth
rate was based on the relevant growth forecasts and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for
the relevant industry.

The recoverable amount of CGUT and CGU2 are
HK$3,044,000 (2021: HK$4,222,000) and HK$1,126,000
(2021: HK$2,274,000) respectively as at 31 December
2022.

16.

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

M - BERRE (&)

B Tk ()

RBONBREBHES AEEEMHE
BEELBEN  NiKkeREER(R
SELE 1_L1J))§i||}t'é EREERIR
SEEEN2) RZE__FRk=
g:—¢+_ﬂ:+ H BeEHL
B (L A ] IR B & EF /”a'Hzizﬁﬂ%f &
A/LTE/F,HHEEX$ o FEHE
Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ1ﬁﬂﬂj’éﬁ}i$ﬁm@%@ﬁ
BEERFE=H BEZBHRIIBRER=
E_FR-E-—F+ZA=+—
HEBY -_FHRIBLEEBEREES
MBLGEMREFIUETSHE
HE

— = — —

—_ = —

G R ERGEERR
FH+-_A=+—"HBHNUKREEET
BEFABEFEEZRETEIER
AT - FREBEFTET EZKRA
UASEEREMMERE AT H
MreBBBEEAEM  EERER
Bl WETRBERKE ZFRE® -
FRHEBNELAMERMERES
10.50% (= T = — % :10.50%) > I8
BREFH2RERENILK% (ZF
TF 3% BEEREESE - %
HEERDERMEBAE RER - IF
EEAETENEERABREE -

RZEBEZZF+-_A=+—H8 R
EXBEMNIRBASEEEM2HT I
B £ % % 5l £3,044,000%8 T(Z &
— — £:4,222,000/%8 7T) 1,126,000
,%75(_" — 412,274,000 7T) °
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17.

BT 75 ¥ 2K BT 5 (48)

Eo—FfZHA=F—HIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEWHE
2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
At 1 January mn—H—H 4,361 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B BT B A &) - 4,300
Fair value gain RNAEWY = 139 61
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 4,500 4,361

The Company’s investment properties are held for rental
purpose and classified and accounted for as investment
properties. The investment properties have generated
rental income of approximately HK$109,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee's option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The Group's investment property is situated in Hong
Kong under medium-term lease.

The fair value of the Company’s investment property at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by the
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the management has
(i) verified all major inputs to the independent valuation
report; (ii) assessed property valuations movements
when compared to the prior year valuation report; and (iii)
held discussion with the independent qualified valuer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

17.

& B %5 R R MY A ()

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3
fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The fair value of the owned properties was determined
based on the market comparison approach by reference
to historical sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square foot basis using market data which
is publicly available. The valuations take into account
the characteristic of the investment properties which
included the location, size, shape, view, floor level, year
of completion and other factors collectively. The fair
value measurements are positively correlated to the
discount on characteristic of the property.

The Company believes that any possible changes in input
values would not cause significant changes in fair value
of investment property.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment
properties with carrying amounts of HK$4,500,000
(2021: HK$4,361,000) has been pledged to secure the
Group’s bank overdraft and borrowings (Note 28).

17.

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

REWE (&)

ARBHEDERE-RAAERE
® -

il

HE_ZT-_—_F#rR-_ZF-_—%F+-A
—t+—HLEFE VTEEAXELE
=

BEMENRAREBEDIRETS LR
o 2EAMLBYMENELEE (K
BYTREBREB)YWERAARAR
MMEBEEE - HEEETRE
MERNEH BRELE - K]
mEEH - BE RIFHMEMRA
E-NREFEEFERMEFAL
e -

RRABRR - B AEREMA A EE
T EERRENENARERE
BER# -

R—E-_—_F+=_RAR=+—8"
AEBHNREMEERHENEEE
#4,500,0008 (= & = — %
4,361,000 L) M EMESER -
EAAREBERITEI REEMER (K
£¥28) o
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re IR R M R (88)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 #HZ=F = —F+-A=+—HIFEF

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FHREEE

2022 2021

—E-— —E-—F
Total Total

4t BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
As at 1 January Hn—A—H 3,763
Additions NE 1,017
Acquisition of subsidiaries @ =R/ 483
Depreciation charges e (1,961)
Exchange realignment & 5, & 81
As at 31 December R+=—BA=+—H 3,383
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEHAENAX 349
Total cash outflow for leases HERS AN ,Z[’é' 28 2,984
Additions to right-of-use assets FRHEEERNE 1,500

The Group leases various buildings used in its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2022 is
one to two and a half years (2021: one to two and a half
years), with extension and termination options. Other
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or
less and/or is individually of low value. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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ek E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

19. GOODWILL 19. HE
HK$'000
FAET
Cost R A
At 1 January 2021 RZTE-_—F—H—H —
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries EU W E A EmESE 18,786
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 RZZE=Z—F+=A=+—H"
and 31 December 2022 —E--_F—H—H
r—E-——®%#+=-A=+—8H 18,786
Impairment RIE
At 1 January 2021 R—E-_—%F—H—H —
Impairment loss recognised ERABREERE (12,103)
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 R—ZZF-_—F+=-_A=+—8H"
and 31 December 2022 —E-—_F—AF—H
R—ZBE=—=—&FE+=—A=+—8H (12,103)
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZFE-__+ZA=+—H 6,683
At 31 December 2021 R-_E_—%+-HA=+—H 6,683
For the year ended 31 December 2021, goodwill arising HE-Z-_—F+-_A=+—HItHF
on acquisition of DML Group. B WEBEDMLEBELEMMEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

19.

re IR R M R (88)

GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated to the
cash generating units as follows:

Operation of interior design and HET R
decoration business ?&.%*

EEISEY

Eo—FfZHA=F—HIFE

19. HE (&)

Em%AfﬂﬁPﬁ MEEEKRBER
DTRGEHEZEEREHPEAN
ReELBEN RENREEES
ReREeELEN ARWT:

Impairment testing of goodwill
Interior design and decoration

On 9 February 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the
equity interests in DML at a total consideration of
approximately HK$25,628,000. Management considered
that the DML Group represents a separate CGU for the
purpose of impairment testing. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group recognised an impairment
loss of HK$12,103,000 in relation to goodwill allocated
to the DML Group for impairment testing purpose. The
goodwill arising from the acquisition of the DML Group
represented the excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the provisional fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the DML Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £ —

19.

& B %5 R R MY A ()

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Interior design and decoration (Continued)

In connection with the acquisition of DML Group,
67,441,860 consideration shares were transferred at the
issue price of HK$0.215 each were issued and allotted
to the vendors to acquire the 100% equity interest in
DML Group. The difference between (i) the grant date
fair value of the consideration shares for the acquisition
of DML Group as determined based on the closing
price of HK$0.38 per share of the Company on the
completion date and (ii) the issue price of HK$0.215 per
consideration share pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of DML Group, has
resulted in unexpected increase in the total consideration
transferred for acquisition of DML Group from
approximately HK$14,500,000, being the consideration
as stipulated in sale and purchase agreement for
the acquisition of the DML Group, to approximately
HK$25,628,000, being the fair value of the consideration
having been transferred.

In accordance with HKFRS 3 Business combinations
issued by the HKICPA, the cost of this business
combination was determined using the fair values at the
date of the business combination of these instruments
issued by the Group. The Group has performed an
impairment assessment on the carrying amount of the
CGU (including goodwill) based on VIU calculations.

Management expected the operation scale of the CGU
after the acquisition would be further expanded by
incorporating the resources of the Group. However, such
expectations are not incorporated as assumptions in
preparing the cash flow forecasts for impairment testing
purpose as they are not clearly supported and therefore
not included in the VIU calculations. Since the carrying
amount of the CGU (including goodwill) is significantly
above its recoverable amount, the Group impaired
the amount of goodwill of HK$12,103,000 on date of
acquisition of the DML Group.

19.

Fo—FA A=+ —HIFE

e (%)
&R ER A ()
EARTREE ()

LU DML Groupim & ' 67,441,860
BRERGEEETESR215E
TTEE WERE A BT KA
LA Ug B8 DML £ B #9100% B% #E © (i)
REHBEHBEBDMLEE K EEEE
REBOZAABERER KB
ARARERBK MK TE0.38% il
) BB EDMLE B U BE £ 18
BETEEHZETRRERHD.215HE
THBTEZEZEEEHREDML
SEREFTHEEZNARE  ®H
14,500,000 ;o (ADDMLE B W B8 =
EMNEERZATHARE) ZINEM
E| #925,628,000/8 L (BN 2 & 2 M R
BRAMNE) -

BREZESFMIGRMNETEY
BHRELENEIREHESH  KRE
BEHRARAAEEZETHA
MIAERXGEHERANARERE -
ASRECREFEREEAEYRE
EXBEUBRBE)INEEEEE
TTRERE -

EEERAURBRRSELAEMN
REFBBBBEBESAEEERE
—HERAM ELEHREHR
HMEAXBNKAAINGHRE R

>3

ERANRER AAHBERYLE
BENEEXE AURTEREEEMRE
BEP ARRESELBEU(EBRE
FR)NEHEESRETREEE

AEBRKEDMLEE 2B RERDS
£ £ %612,103,000/8 7T °
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19.

A M ERR W e (8)

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Interior design and decoration (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021,
goodwill is further tested for impairment for this CGU by
the management by estimating the recoverable amount
of the CGU based on value in use calculations. The Group
engaged an independent qualified valuer to perform the
valuation.

The key assumptions for the VIU calculations are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to selling prices and direct costs during the
relevant periods. Management estimates discount
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on the
estimates made by the management on the industry.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the
market.

The Group prepared cash flows forecasts derived
from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for a five-year period. The CGU’s cashflows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady
3% (2021: 3%) growth rate. The financial budgets and
growth rates are estimated according to the stage of
operation with reference to the development curve of
the industry. The rate used to discount the forecast cash
flows for the CGU is 15.3% (2021: 15.4%).

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the
recoverable amounts of the DML Group calculated
based on VIU exceeded its carrying value. No further
impairment of goodwill was required. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not result in impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z=-F - —#F+_-HA=+—HIFEF

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BEEE

Licence
HK$'000
FHET
Cost AN
At 1 January 2021, 31 RZZEZ—F—H—B8 -Z%=—%F
December 2021 and 1 January 2022 +-A=+—BER=ZE=-=—F—A—H =
Acquired on acquisition of a g1 TN S
subsidiary (Note 32) (K7 3£32) 3,788
At 31 December 2022 R=-ZZBZ-ZZ=ZF+=HA=+-—H

Impairment BE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 W-_Z-_—H—AF—B -—Z-—F+_-58
and 31 December 2022 =—t+—B8k=ZZE-_=F+=ZA=+—H

Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-_—H+=-HA=+—H

At 31 December 2021 R—E=-——F+-_H=+—8H .

The licence represents the licence issued by Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC"), which enable Hua
Yu Investment Management Limited (“Hua Yu"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, to operate
in advising on securities (Type 4 regulated activity),
advising on corporate finance (Type 6 regulated activity)
and assets management (Type 9 regulated activity)
activities in Hong Kong, under the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"). Under SFO, Hua Yu is
required to meet its relevant paid up share capital and
liquid capital requirements of the Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules issued by SFC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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20.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group would
renew the licence continuously and has the ability to
do so. As a result, the licence is considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life because it is expected to generate economic
benefit to the Group indefinitely. The licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives with carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,788,000, within the provision of
advising on securities, corporate finance and asset
management segments, is estimated individually.

The recoverable amount of the licenses has been
determined based on the VIU calculation by reference
to valuation carried out by an independent qualified
valuer engaged by the Group. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and pre-tax
discount rate of 13.0%. The financial model assumes
a terminal growth rate of 2.5% taking into account of
inflation rate and other relevant economic factors. The
cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rate
have been assessed as at 31 December 2022 taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties
in the current year due to volatility in financial markets,
including potential disruptions of the Group’s operations.

As at 31 December 2022, the recoverable amounts
of the licenses calculated based on VIU is estimated
to exceed its carrying amount. The management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment is
recognised on intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the licenses to exceed the
recoverable amount.
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